



Raphaël Côte, Clémentine Courtès, Guillaume Ferrière, & Yannick Privat

Minimal time of magnetization switching in small ferromagnetic ellipsoidal samples

Tome 12 (2025), p. 147-184.

https://doi.org/10.5802/jep.287

© Les auteurs, 2025.

Cet article est mis à disposition selon les termes de la licence LICENCE INTERNATIONALE D'ATTRIBUTION CREATIVE COMMONS BY 4.0. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

> Publié avec le soutien du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique



Publication membre du Centre Mersenne pour l'édition scientifique ouverte www.centre-mersenne.org e-ISSN : 2270-518X Tome 12, 2025, p. 147-184

Journal de l'École polytechnique *Mathématiques* DOI: 10.5802/jep.287

MINIMAL TIME OF MAGNETIZATION SWITCHING IN SMALL FERROMAGNETIC ELLIPSOIDAL SAMPLES

by Raphaël Côte, Clémentine Courtès, Guillaume Ferrière & Yannick Privat

ABSTRACT. — In this paper, we consider a ferromagnetic material of ellipsoidal shape. The associated magnetic moment has then two asymptotically stable opposite equilibria, of the form $\pm \overline{m}$. In order to use these materials for memory storage purposes, it is necessary to know how to control the magnetic moment. We use as a control variable a spatially uniform external magnetic field and consider the question of flipping the magnetic moment, i.e., changing it from the $+\overline{m}$ configuration to the $-\overline{m}$ one, in minimal time. Of course, it is necessary to impose restrictions on the external magnetic field used. We therefore include a constraint on the L^{∞} norm of the control, assumed to be less than a threshold value U. We show that, generically with respect to the dimensions of the ellipsoid, there is a minimal value of U for this problem to have a solution. We then characterize it precisely. Finally, we investigate some particular configurations associated to geometries enjoying symmetry properties and show that in this case the magnetic moment can be controlled in minimal time without imposing a threshold condition on U.

Résumé (Temps minimal de commutation de la magnétisation dans de petites structures ellipsoïdales ferromagnétiques)

Dans cet article, nous considérons un matériau ferromagnétique de forme ellipsoïdale. Le moment magnétique associé possède alors deux équilibres asymptotiquement stables opposés, de la forme $\pm \overline{m}$. Pour utiliser ces matériaux à des fins de stockage de mémoire, il est nécessaire de savoir comment contrôler le moment magnétique. Nous utilisons comme variable de contrôle un champ magnétique externe spatialement uniforme et nous considérons la question du renversement du moment magnétique, c'est-à-dire le passage de la configuration $+\overline{m}$ à la configuration $-\overline{m}$, en un temps minimal. Bien entendu, il est nécessaire d'imposer des restrictions sur le champ magnétique externe utilisé. Nous incluons donc une contrainte sur la norme L^{∞} des contrôles, supposée inférieure à une valeur seuil U. Nous montrons que, de manière générique par rapport aux dimensions de l'ellipsoïde, il existe une valeur minimale de U pour que ce problème ait une solution. Nous la caractérisons alors précisément. Enfin, nous étudions certaines configurations particulières associées à des géométries présentant des propriétés de symétrie et montrons que, dans ce cas, le moment magnétique peut être contrôlé en temps minimal sans imposer de condition de seuil sur U.

Mathematical subject classification (2020). - 49J15, 49J30, 35Q60, 78M50.

 $^{{\}it Keywords.}\ -\ {\it Ferromagnetic materials, Landau-Lifshitz equation, optimal control, minimal time.}$

The authors were partially supported by the ANR Project MOSICOF. R.C. has benefitted from support provided by the University of Strasbourg Institute for Advanced Study (USIAS) for a Fellowship within the French national program "Investment for the future" (IdEx-Unistra). Y.P. was partially supported by the ANR Project TRECOS.

Contents

1. Introduction	148
2. Existence of a minimal switching time	152
3. Minimization and optimality	155
4. Proof of Theorem 3	161
5. Cases with symmetry	168
6. Proof of Theorem 9: on almost planar trajectories	173
7. Conclusion	176
Appendix A. Computation of the demagnetizing field in a ferromagnetic ellipsoid	
sample	180
Appendix B. Stability of steady-states for Equation (3)	181
Appendix C. Complement in the case $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$: explicit computations of the	
constants	182
References	183

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Landau-Lifshitz equation for ellipsoidal ferromagnetic samples

Ferromagnetic materials have come into common use in the last few decades, especially since they are found in devices used to store digital information such as magnetic tapes or hard disks, but also in magnetic chips called *Magnetic Random Access Memory* (MRAM). These chips have many advantages over their silicon counterparts, in particular that of requiring energy only to change the value bits and not to maintain the storage itself. This is probably one of the most challenging applications since it opens the door towards new spintronic applications and storage technologies while allowing a very fast access to information (see, e.g., [18]).

The magnetic moment of a ferromagnetic material represented by a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is usually modeled as a time-varying vector field

$$m: \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^2,$$

where \mathbb{S}^2 is the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^3 , the evolution of which is driven by the so-called *Landau-Lifshitz equation* (see [16])

(1)
$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -m \wedge h(m) - \alpha m \wedge (m \wedge h(m)),$$

where the *effective field* h(m) is defined by

$$h(m) = 2A\Delta m + h_d(m) + h_{\text{ext}},$$

with $\alpha > 0$, a constant (in time and space) damping coefficient which is characterized by the material. We refer for instance to [15, 7] for additional explanations. The constant A > 0 is the exchange constant, and can be assumed to be equal to A = 1/2 without loss of generality, with a normalization argument. The *demagnetizing*

field $h_d(m)$ is the solution of the equations

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(h_d(m) + m) = 0\\ \operatorname{curl}(h_d(m)) = 0 \end{cases} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^3), \end{cases}$$

where m is extended to \mathbb{R}^3 by 0 outside Ω and $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^3)$ stands for the space of distributions on \mathbb{R}^3 . In other words, $h_d(m) = \nabla \phi$ where $\phi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is the potential defined by $\Delta \phi = -\operatorname{div} m \mathbb{1}_{\Omega}$ and $[\partial_n \phi] = m \cdot n$ on the boundary $\partial \Omega$, so that

$$\phi(x) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\Omega} \frac{m(y) \cdot (x-y)}{|x-y|^3} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

We refer to [2, 7] and [11, §1] for additional explanations on this representation formula. The field h_{ext} is an external one, for instance it can be an external magnetic field. Note that it is possible to complete and specify this physical model by adding other relevant terms, for example by taking into account the anisotropic behavior of the crystal that composes the ferromagnetic material.

REMARK 1. — Notably, every solution of (1) maintains a constant norm over time, which remains equal to 1 given the assumption $|m(0, \cdot)| = 1$. Specifically, we can compute

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|m(t,x)|^2 = m(t,x) \cdot \frac{\partial m}{\partial t}(t,x) = -m \cdot (m \wedge h(m) + \alpha m \wedge (m \wedge h(m)))|_{\text{at }(t,x)} = 0.$$

Finally, it is standard to assume homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions on the magnetization on the boundary of Ω .

In this article, we will consider a ferromagnetic sample of ellipsoidal shape, and the magnetization m and external field h_{ext} both spatially uniform. Indeed, ellipsoidal domains have been much studied in the literature dedicated to ferromagnetism [17, 10, 22]: on the one hand, they cover a large variety of geometrical shapes, and on the other hand, they are the only known bodies that can be uniformly magnetized in the presence of a spatially uniform inducing field. From the mathematical point of view, it is nice to consider such samples because the demagnetizing field h_d appearing in the Landau-Lifshitz equation can be determined in an explicit way.

Let us be more precise and clarify the model obtained in this case. In all the following of this article, let Ω be the ellipsoid of \mathbb{R}^3 of semi-axes $a_1 > 0$, $a_2 > 0$ and $a_3 > 0$, and $(O; e_1, e_2, e_3)$ be an orthonormal basis chosen so that the Cartesian equation of Ω reads

(2)
$$\frac{x^2}{a_1^2} + \frac{y^2}{a_2^2} + \frac{z^2}{a_3^2} = 1.$$

An illustration of the ellipsoid Ω is shown in Figure 1. According to [17, 10], for uniform (in space) magnetizations m on Ω , the demagnetizing field $h_d(m)$ can be explicitly computed and reads

$$h_d(m) = -Dm,$$
 with $D = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \gamma_2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \gamma_3 \end{pmatrix},$

where γ_i (i = 1, 2, 3) is a positive constant depending only on the semi-axes a_1, a_2 and a_3 (we provide the precise dependence in Appendix A).

One can easily infer from this result that, provided that the external field h_{ext} and the initial magnetization m^0 are constant in space, so is the magnetic moment m solving the Landau-Lifshitz equation (1) completed with homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions.

As a consequence, the Landau-Lifshitz equation with a time-dependent external magnetic field h_{ext} reads as the ordinary differential system

(3)
$$\begin{cases} \dot{m} = \alpha \left(h_0(m) - (h_0(m) \cdot m)m \right) - m \wedge h_0(m) & \text{in } (0,T), \\ m(0) = m^0, \end{cases}$$

where the dotted notation \dot{m} stands for the time derivative of m, $h_0(m) = -Dm + h_{\text{ext}}$, T > 0, $m(t) \in \mathbb{S}^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, $D = \text{diag}([\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3])$ is a diagonal matrix with positive coefficients. Up to a change of basis, we will also assume without loss of generality that

(4)
$$0 \leqslant \gamma_1 \leqslant \gamma_2 \leqslant \gamma_3 \leqslant 1.$$

In what follows, we will assume that the ferromagnetic particle is subjected to a spatially uniform external magnetic field h_{ext} , and we are interested in two asymptotically stable stationary states of the resulting system, denoted \overline{m} . We refer to Appendix B for the characterization on the steady-states of (3) and their stability. We seek to answer the following question:

Given a maximum value U of the norm of the field h_{ext} at all times, can we determine whether there exists such a field flipping the magnetic spin from \overline{m} to $-\overline{m}$ in minimal time?



FIGURE 1. The ellipsoid shaped ferromagnetic sample

1.2. State of the art and structure of the article. — The development of the use of ferromagnetic materials has led to the emergence of new storage possibilities, and consequently to a renewed interest of the scientific community around the control of ODE/PDE on this topic.

Indeed, controlling the spin and magnetic moment in ferromagnetic materials is essential for advanced technologies like spintronics and data storage [9, 6]. It enables the development of faster, more compact, and energy-efficient devices, such as MRAM magnetic memory. In spintronics, manipulating electron spin (in addition to charge) allows for circuits that generate less heat, improving energy efficiency. Additionally, controlling spin affects the quantum properties of materials, opening possibilities for advanced quantum physics experiments, such as studying the spin Hall effect. Finally, mastering magnetic properties paves the way for new applications in magnetic logic and information processing, where logic operations are performed solely with magnetic materials.

The use of an external magnetic field to control a ferromagnetic system is a very present issue in the literature of the field (see for instance [8, 21, 23, 24]).

Many works have focused on both the derivation of relevant models, i.e., sufficiently close to the physics, but also simple enough to be exploited mathematically, and on the related optimization issues. Many studies are devoted to these modeling questions, to the obtaining of exploitable optimality conditions leading to numerical simulations. Thus, in the same spirit as the present study, the authors of [5] seek to flip the magnetic spin using electric current injections. Let us mention in the same vein the works [13, 14] also addressing similar issues: minimization of the distance to a target state with a fixed time horizon, addition of stochastic term in the model, search for a feedback and numerical analysis of the considered problems.

Recent progress has been made in the understanding of the control (exact and approximate) of ellipsoidal samples/networks : [12, 4, 1]. Our study has been particularly motivated by [3], in which it is notably proved that, when the size of an open bounded set Ω tends to 0, then we find a uniform magnification in the domain, which lends itself to the study of ellipsoids.

Structure of the article. — In this paper, we are interested in a single ferromagnetic particle of ellipsoidal shape in \mathbb{R}^3 . We seek to perform a magnetic moment reversal in minimal time, using an external magnetic field as a control of the resulting physical system.

We model this issue in Section 2.1, imposing a maximum L^{∞} norm on the control translated using the parameter U > 0, reflecting the difficulty and cost of using very high magnetic fields. In the absence of additional symmetries on the geometry of the system, we show the existence of a minimal threshold on U for the minimum time problem to have a solution. We refine this result when additional symmetries are assumed on the material geometry. The main results of this paper are gathered in Section 2.2. Section 3 contains the foundation of the proofs of the main results: indeed, we state necessary and sufficient conditions guaranteeing the well-posedness

151

of the time-optimal problem and write the necessary conditions of optimality to the first order using the Pontryagin maximum principle.

The proofs of the main results are contained in Sections 4, 5 and 6. Finally, some numerical simulations are listed in Section 7 to illustrate the qualitative behavior of the solutions obtained in theoretical theorems. The appendices contain additional information and/or secondary calculations. Appendix A contains the calculation of the demagnetizing field in the case of a ferromagnetic ellipsoid sample. Appendix B contains the proof that $\pm e_1$ are indeed the only asymptotically stable states for equation (3). Finally, Appendix C contains the calculations of the explicit constants in the case $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$.

Notations. — In the whole article, $|\cdot|$ stands for the standard euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^3 (or \mathbb{R}^d), and we write with a dot \cdot its inner product in \mathbb{R}^d .

We are essentially interested in a control problem where the control function is the external field: we abide by the usual convention, and let

 $h_{\text{ext}} = u.$

2. Existence of a minimal switching time

Let us recall that, as mentioned in the introduction, we will consider a ferromagnetic sample whose shape Ω is the ellipsoid with Cartesian equation (2). The dynamics of the magnetic moment $m(\cdot)$, equal to m_0 at the initial time, is hence driven by the simplified Landau-Lifshitz equation (3).

2.1. Towards an optimal control problem. — The main issue we want to tackle reads

Given a steady-state \overline{m} of (3) in \mathbb{S}^2 , can we achieve a reversal by solving an optimal control problem, i.e., steering the system from $m(0) = \overline{m}$ to $m(T) = -\overline{m}$ while minimizing T?

In what follows, we will consider particular stationary states: $\overline{m} = \pm e_1$. It is proved in appendix B that these equilibria are asymptotically stable when $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$. Therefore, they can be used as magnetic spin orientation for memory storage purposes. We will denote by $u(\cdot)$ the external (spatially uniform) magnetic field imposed on the system. This is the control variable in this problem. The question is then to ask if it is possible to steer the solution m_u of the system (3) associated to the control $u(\cdot)$ and to the initial data $m_u(0) = e_1$ until $m_u(T) = -e_1$, in minimal time.

Of course, it is necessary to add physical constraints to this problem: if one imposes no restrictions on the choice of admissible controls, it is likely that the minimal time problem will have a solution, reached by unrealistic controls⁽¹⁾. For this reason, we will

⁽¹⁾Indeed, an applied magnetic field in a region cannot be excessively strong, as it is not feasible to create infinitely strong fields due to physical limitations such as material saturation and thermal effects.

assume in what follows the constraint

 $|\mathscr{C}_{T,U}\rangle \qquad |u(t)| \leq U \quad \text{a.e. in } (0,T),$

in order to limit the choice of controls to realistic possibilities.

All in all, the problem we aim at investigating reads as follows.

Minimal time problem

Let U > 0 and assume that $m_0 = e_1$. The problem reads

$$(\mathscr{P}_0) \qquad \qquad \mathfrak{T}_U \coloneqq \inf_{(T,u) \in \mathcal{O}_U} T,$$

where

 $\mathcal{O}_U = \{(T, u) \mid T \in \mathbb{R}_+, u \in L^{\infty}(0, T) \text{ satisfies } (\mathscr{C}_{T, U}) \text{ and } m_u(T) = -e_1\},\$

with m_u , the solution to (3) associated to the control function $u(\cdot)$ and the initial datum e_1 .

We will investigate the following issues:

- Does Problem (\mathscr{P}_0) have an optimal solution for any value of U > 0?

– How to characterize all the solutions to this problem and understand their geometric dependence to the parameters γ_i , i = 1, 2, 3?

2.2. MAIN RESULTS. — First, the minimization problem is indeed well-posed, meaning that the existence of an optimal solution is equivalent to the existence of a minimal trajectory.

THEOREM 2. — Let U > 0. The following properties are equivalent:

(i) There exists an optimal pair $(\mathfrak{T}_U, u) \in \mathfrak{O}_U$ for Problem (\mathscr{P}_0) .

(ii) \mathcal{T}_U is finite.

(iii) \mathcal{O}_U is nonempty.

The behavior of the control system differs greatly depending on the values of the parameters γ_i and more specifically on the values of γ_1 and γ_2 .

THEOREM 3. — Assume $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$. Then there exists $U_{\text{crit}} > 0$ such that

- for all $U \in (0, U_{crit}]$, (\mathscr{P}_0) has no solution. - for all $U > U_{crit}$, (\mathscr{P}_0) has a solution.

REMARK 4. — It is notable that the proof of this theorem provides an explicit lowerbound estimate of U_{crit} . The precise bound is derived in Remark 19.

We are now interested in the case where $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$, which is not covered by the above result. It is interesting to note that in this case, the behavior of the optimized physical system is very different from the one described in the Theorem 3. Indeed, this situation of symmetry leads to the fact that there is no longer a threshold from which the system is controllable.

To complete this analysis, we also investigate in the following result the existence of optimal planar trajectories. In view of the system symmetry, it is natural to conjecture that the optimal trajectory are planar, since all the points in $\operatorname{span}(e_1, e_2) \cap \mathbb{S}^2$ are stable, and this set is even asymptotically stable. Somewhat surprisingly, we show here that this is actually not the case.

THEOREM 5. — If $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 \leq \gamma_3$, then the optimal control problem (\mathscr{P}_0) has a solution whatever the value of U > 0, meaning that $U_{crit} = 0$, with the notations of Theorem 3. Furthermore, if $\gamma_1 < \gamma_3$, the optimal trajectory in \mathbb{S}^2 is not contained in the plane span (e_1, e_2) .

It is interesting to notice that Theorem 3 can be refined in the particular case where $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 = \gamma_3$. To this aim, we will deeply exploit the necessary first order optimality conditions provided by the so-called Pontryagin Maximum Principle (PMP). We refer to Section 3.3 for a precise statement of such conditions.

Theorem 6. – If $\gamma_1 \leqslant \gamma_2 = \gamma_3$, then

$$U_{\rm crit} = \frac{\alpha}{2\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}} \left(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1\right).$$

Furthermore, for all $U > U_{crit}$,

$$\Im_U = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2} \sqrt{U^2 - U_{\text{crit}}^2}}$$

REMARK 7. - In particular, we infer from the result above the following asymptotics:

$$U_U \sim \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{2U_{\text{crit}}(1+\alpha^2)}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{U-U_{\text{crit}}}} \quad \text{as } U \searrow U_{\text{crit}}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{T}_U \sim \frac{\pi}{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}} \quad \text{as } U \longrightarrow +\infty.$$

REMARK 8 (Case of where the shape of the sample is a sphere). — In the case where Ω is a sphere, then one has $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3$. Then, both conclusions of Theorem 5 and 6 apply, meaning that $U_{\text{crit}} = 0$ and the optimal time is given by $\mathcal{T}_U = \pi/(U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2})$. Furthermore, it may be shown that, in that case, there exists optimal planar trajectories in each of the hyperplanes $\text{span}(e_i, e_j)$ with $i \neq j$. We refer for instance to [3, Proof of Prop. 2], whose main argument can be reproduced in our case.

We end this section by a result on the asymptotic behavior of optimal magnetization trajectories as U diverges to $+\infty$. We prove that optimal trajectories tend to be supported on a geodesic on the sphere whenever U is large.

THEOREM 9. — Let $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2 \leq \gamma_3$ and $U > U_{crit}$ and m be an optimal trajectory. Let p be its adjoint state. Then, if U is large enough, m stays close to the plane $V = \text{span}(e_1, p(\mathcal{T}_U))$ in the following sense: there exists $U_0 > 0$ and C > 0 such that for every $U > U_0$ and $t \in [0, \mathcal{T}_U]$,

$$||m(t) - \mathbb{P}_V m(t)|| \leqslant \frac{C}{U},$$

where \mathbb{P}_V is the orthogonal projection onto V.

3. MINIMIZATION AND OPTIMALITY

3.1. Proof of Theorem 2: existence of an optimal trajectory

Let us assume that \mathcal{O}_U is nonempty. This allows us to consider a minimizing sequence $(T_n, u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{O}_U^{\mathbb{N}}$, and $m_n \in \mathscr{C}([0, T_n])$ the solution to (3) with field u_n . By definition, $T_n \to \mathcal{T}_U$ as $n \to \infty$. In what follows, we will index similarly a sequence and any subsequence with a slight abuse of notation, for the sake of simplicity.

Let us introduce the functions \tilde{u}_n , \tilde{m}_n defined on [0, 1] by

$$\widetilde{u}_n(s) = u_n(T_n s)$$
 and $\widetilde{m}_n(s) = m_n(T_n s).$

Hence, System (3) rewrites

(5)
$$\begin{cases} \dot{\tilde{m}}_n = T_n \left(\alpha \left(\tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}_n) - (\tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}_n) \cdot \tilde{m}_n) \tilde{m}_n \right) - \tilde{m}_n \wedge \tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}_n) \right) & \text{in } (0,1), \\ \tilde{m}_n(0) = e_1, \end{cases}$$

where $\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}_n) = -D\widetilde{m}_n + \widetilde{u}_n$.

Similarly, since the sequence $(\tilde{u}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,1)$, it converges weaklystar in $L^{\infty}(0,1)$ up to a subsequence to some element u^* such that $|u^*(\cdot)| \leq U$ a.e. in [0,1] according to the Banach-Alaoglu-Bourbaki theorem. Since both $(\tilde{m}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\tilde{u}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are bounded in $L^{\infty}([0,1])$, we infer that so is $\dot{\tilde{m}}_n$ according to (5). Therefore, the sequence $(\tilde{m}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ and hence converges (up to a subsequence) towards an element $\tilde{m}^* \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ in $\mathcal{C}^0([0,1])$ according to the Ascoli theorem. In particular, one has necessarily $|\tilde{m}^*(\cdot)| = 1$. Now, let us rewrite (5) as the fixed-point equation: for all $s \in [0, 1]$,

$$\widetilde{m}_n(s) = e_1 + T_n \int_0^s \left(\alpha \left(\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}_n) - (\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}_n) \cdot \widetilde{m}_n) \widetilde{m}_n \right) - \widetilde{m}_n \wedge \widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}_n) \right) d\sigma$$

Observe that the right-hand side is linear with respect to $\tilde{h}_0(m_n)$ and that, according to the properties above, $(\tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}_n))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly-star to $\tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}^*)$ in $L^{\infty}(0,1)$, where $\tilde{h}_0(\tilde{m}^*) = -D\tilde{m}^* + \tilde{u}^*$. Letting *n* tend to $+\infty$ in the equation above, we obtain:

$$\forall s \in [0,1], \ \widetilde{m}^*(s) = e_1 + \Im_U \int_0^s \left(\alpha \left(\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) - (\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) \cdot \widetilde{m}^*) \widetilde{m}^* \right) - \widetilde{m}^* \wedge \widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) \right) d\sigma.$$

Moreover, since $\widetilde{m}_n(1) = -e_1$ by construction, the convergence in $\mathcal{C}^0([0,1])$ leads to $\widetilde{m}^*(1) = -e_1$. Taking the previous formula with s = 1, we get

$$-2e_1 = \Im_U \int_0^1 \left(\alpha \left(\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) - (\widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) \cdot \widetilde{m}^*) \widetilde{m}^* \right) - \widetilde{m}^* \wedge \widetilde{h}_0(\widetilde{m}^*) \right) d\sigma$$

This proves that $\mathcal{T}_U > 0$. Now, let us introduce u^* as $u^*(t) = \tilde{u}^*(t/\mathcal{T}_U)$. By undoing the change of variable above, we get that $\tilde{m}^*(t/\mathcal{T}_U) = m_{u^*}(t)$ for a.e. $t \in [0, \mathcal{T}_U]$. Furthermore, $m_{u^*}(0) = e_1$ and $m_{u^*}(\mathcal{T}_U) = -e_1$ since $\tilde{m}_n(0) = e_1$ and $\tilde{m}_n(1) = -e_1$. The converse sense is straightforward and the expected conclusion follows.

Finally, observe that the same reasoning can be reproduced whenever \mathcal{T}_U is finite.

3.2. Sufficient and necessary condition for the existence of an admissible trajectory. — Let (m, u) be a solution to (3) on [0, T], and for $t \in [0, T]$, consider the mobile frame $\mathcal{B}(t) = (m(t), \dot{e}(t), m(t) \wedge \dot{e}(t))$ where⁽²⁾ $\dot{e} = \dot{m}/|\dot{m}|$. According to [3], by observing that

$$m \perp \dot{m}, \quad \dot{m} \perp m \wedge \dot{m} \quad \text{and} \quad m \perp m \wedge (m \wedge Dm),$$

one shows easily, by decomposing u(t) into $\mathcal{B}(t)$ and writing the equation for $u - (u \cdot m)m$, the projection of u on m^{\perp} , that there exists $\lambda \in L^{\infty}(0,T)$ such that

(6)
$$u = \frac{1}{1 + \alpha^2} \left(\alpha \dot{m} + m \wedge \dot{m} \right) + Dm - (Dm \cdot m)m + \lambda m$$

In fact, $\lambda = u \cdot m$. Reciprocally, given any function $m \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T],\mathbb{S}^2)$, and any function $\lambda \in L^{\infty}([0,T],\mathbb{R})$, if we define u by (6), then (m, u) is solution to (3). These considerations can be seen as a consequence of a flatness property of the main system.

Again assuming that (m, u) is admissible trajectory, i.e., a solution to (3), We infer from (6) that u(t) expands as

(7)
$$u = \lambda m + \left(\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha^2}|\dot{m}| + \dot{e} \cdot Dm\right)\dot{e} + \left(Dm \cdot (m \wedge \dot{e}) + \frac{1}{1+\alpha^2}|\dot{m}|\right)m \wedge \dot{e}.$$

As, a consequence, using that $Dm \cdot (m \wedge \dot{e}) = \dot{e} \cdot (Dm \wedge m)$ due the triple product property, we get

$$u|^{2} = \lambda^{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha^{2}}|\dot{m}| + \dot{e} \cdot Dm\right)^{2} + \left(Dm \cdot (m \wedge \dot{e}) + \frac{|\dot{m}|}{1+\alpha^{2}}\right)^{2}$$
$$= \lambda^{2} + \left(\dot{e} \cdot Dm + \frac{\alpha|\dot{m}|}{1+\alpha^{2}}\right)^{2} + \left(\dot{e} \cdot (Dm_{u} \wedge m) + \frac{|\dot{m}|}{1+\alpha^{2}}\right)^{2}.$$

Clearly, this computation and the previous remarks show that, without loss of generality, we can furthermore assume that an *optimal* trajectory satisfies $\lambda = 0$, or equivalently, $u \cdot m = 0$: we will do this in the following.

Let us introduce, for a given T > 0,

$$\mathscr{V}_T = \{ m \in H^1([0,T]; \mathbb{S}^2) \mid m(0) = e_1 \text{ and } m(T) = -e_1 \}$$

To investigate the existence of an admissible trajectory, it is then convenient to introduce

(8)
$$L_{\alpha}(m) \coloneqq \left(\dot{e} \cdot (Dm \wedge m) + \frac{|\dot{m}|}{1 + \alpha^{2}}\right)^{2} + \left(\dot{e} \cdot Dm + \frac{\alpha |\dot{m}|}{1 + \alpha^{2}}\right)^{2}$$
$$\Lambda(T) \coloneqq \inf_{\lambda \in L^{\infty}([0,T])} \inf_{m \in \mathscr{V}_{T}} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\lambda^{2} + L_{\alpha}(m)\right)$$
$$(9) \qquad = \inf_{m \in \mathscr{V}_{T}} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} L_{\alpha}(m).$$

We summarize the above discussion in the form of a lemma.

LEMMA 10. — The existence of an admissible trajectory for Problem (\mathscr{P}_0) comes to the existence of $m \in \mathscr{V}_T$ such that the function u given by (7) with $\lambda = 0$ satisfies $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^3)} \leq U$, which is also equivalent to $\Lambda(T) \leq U^2$. Also, u satisfies $u \cdot m = 0$.

 $^{^{(2)}}$ Here, \dot{e} is merely a notation, and not the time derivative of a previously defined vector e.

J.É.P. – M., 2025, tome 12

3.3. NECESSARY OPTIMALITY CONDITIONS FOR PROBLEM (\mathscr{P}_0). — This problem can be solved by using the Pontryagin maximum principle. The main results of this section are gathered in Proposition 12, at the end of this section.

The Hamiltonian associated to Problem (\mathscr{P}_0) is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}: \ \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \times \{-1, 0\} \times \mathbb{R}^3 &\longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \\ (m, p, p^0, u) &\longmapsto p \cdot \left(-\alpha m \wedge (m \wedge h_0(m)) - m \wedge h_0(m)\right). \end{aligned}$$

It can be noted that the dependence of ${\mathcal H}$ on the control function u is affine and one has

$$\mathcal{H}(m, p, p^0, u) = p \cdot (-\alpha m \wedge (m \wedge u) - m \wedge u) - p \cdot (-\alpha m \wedge (m \wedge Dm) - m \wedge Dm).$$

As a first remark, the magnetization stays in $\mathbb{S}^2 = \partial \mathbb{B}$, where \mathbb{B} is the closed unit ball of \mathbb{R}^3 . Therefore, our problem is obviously equivalent to the problem with restricted conditions

$$\mathcal{T}_U = \inf_{\substack{(T,u) \in \mathcal{O}_U \\ |m|^2 - 1 = 0}} T.$$

Thus, we use the version of the Pontryagin maximum principle with restricted phase coordinates, as stated in [20, Th. 22]. This theorem is stated for a minimization of an integral with fixed T, but it can be easily adapted to the case of a minimal time with classical changes (see for instance the passage from Theorem 1 to Theorem 2 in the same reference). With such a statement, we point out that, for all $m \in \mathbb{R}^3$

$$\nabla(|m|^2 - 1) = 2m,$$

and that

$$2m \cdot (-\alpha m \wedge (m \wedge h_0(m)) - m \wedge h_0(m)) = 0$$

Therefore, in our case, this statement gives the exact same necessary conditions, with an additional orthogonality condition for the adjoint state, stated hereafter.

The first order optimality conditions read as follows: let (T, u) be an optimal pair for this problem; there exists an absolutely continuous mapping $p : [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^3$ called *adjoint state* and a real number $p^0 \in \{0, -1\}$ such that the pair (p, p^0) is non-trivial and for almost every $t \in [0, T]$, the following conditions hold.

- Adjoint equations. Setting

$$F_1(m,p) \coloneqq \alpha \left(p \land (m \land Dm) + Dm \land (m \land p) - D(m \land (m \land p)) \right) - Dm \land p - D(p \land m),$$
$$F_2(m,p,u) \coloneqq -\alpha (p \land (m \land u) + u \land (m \land p)) + u \land p,$$

one gets

(10)
$$\dot{p} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial m} = F_1(m, p) + F_2(m, p, u).$$

Remark that, since |m| = 1, one equivalently has

$$F_1(m,p) = \alpha \left(Dp - (Dm \cdot m)p - 2(m \cdot p)Dm + 2(Dm \cdot p)m \right)$$
$$-Dm \wedge p - D(p \wedge m),$$
$$F_2(m,p,u) = \alpha(p \cdot m)u + \alpha(u \cdot m)p - 2\alpha(p \cdot u)m + u \wedge p.$$

- Maximality conditions. For a.e. $t \in [0, T]$, u(t) solves the optimization problem

(11)
$$\max_{|v| \leq U} \mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, v)$$

and one has at the final time T

(12)
$$\max_{|v_T| \leqslant U} \mathcal{H}(m(T), p(T), p^0, v_T) = -p^0.$$

- A useful identity. Since the dynamics only depends on the magnetization $m(\cdot)$ and the control $u(\cdot)$, the Hamiltonian functional is constant in time:

(13)
$$\mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, u(t)) = -p^0, \quad t \in [0, T],$$

according to (12), by evaluating the expression for t = T.

- An orthogonality condition for the adjoint state. At the final time t = T, the adjoint state p(T) is tangent to the boundary $|m|^2 - 1 = 0$ at $m(T) = -e_1$. This condition is thus equivalent to

$$(14) p(T) \cdot e_1 = 0.$$

- Orthogonality between u and m. As seen in Lemma 10, $u \cdot m = 0$ on [0, T].

REMARK 11. — Since the initial and final state are fixed, there is no need to impose any additional transversality condition on the adjoint state.

Let us analyze the conditions (11) and (12).

The adjoint state p cannot vanish on [0, T]. — Indeed, in the converse case, if there exists $t_0 \in [0, T]$ such that $p(t_0) = 0$, then by the Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem and the linearity of the equation on p, it follows that $p(\cdot) = 0$. Then, by using Condition (12), one gets $p^0 = 0$, a contradiction with the non-triviality of the pair (p, p^0) .

On Condition (11). — Observe that $v \mapsto \mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, v)$ is affine with respect to v. According to the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker theorem, there exists $\mu \ge 0$ such that $\nabla_v \mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, u(t)) - \mu u(t) = 0$ and the slackness condition $\mu(|u(t)|^2 - U^2) = 0$ is satisfied.

If the set $\mathfrak{I} \coloneqq \{|u| < U\}$ is of positive Lebesgue measure, then one has

$$\alpha(p(t) - (p(t) \cdot m(t))m(t)) = p(t) \wedge m(t) \quad \text{a.e. } t \in \mathcal{I}.$$

Taking the scalar product of this identity with p(t) leads to $|p(t)|^2 = (p(t) \cdot m(t))^2$ on J. Since p does not vanish, it follows from the equality case in the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality that p(t) is proportional to m(t). We will show that such a case cannot occur.

J.É.P. – M., 2025, tome 12

158

Let us introduce the function $\varphi \coloneqq p - (p \cdot m)m$. One can compute that φ satisfies the differential (linear) relation

(15)
$$\dot{\varphi} = \alpha D \varphi - \alpha (Dm \cdot m) \varphi - Dm \wedge \varphi - D(\varphi \wedge m)$$

 $+ u \wedge \varphi + (m \cdot (Dm \wedge \varphi))m - \alpha (u \cdot \varphi)m,$

a.e. in [0, T]. This follows from an easy but lengthy computation, and from the fact that the function λ given by $\lambda = p \cdot m$ satisfies

$$\dot{\lambda} = -2\alpha(Dm \cdot m)\lambda - (Dm \wedge p) \cdot m - \alpha(u \cdot p) - 2\alpha(Dm \cdot p),$$

a.e. in [0, T]. We leave the details to the reader.

Now, let us assume that the set $\mathfrak{I} := \{|u(\cdot)| < U\}$ is of positive Lebesgue measure. According to the discussion above, there exists a bounded function λ such that $p = \lambda m$ on \mathfrak{I} , and therefore, φ vanishes on \mathfrak{I} . Due to (15) being linear in φ , we obtain that $\varphi(\cdot) = 0$ on [0, T], which means that

$$p(T) = (p(T) \cdot m(T))m(T) = (p(T) \cdot e_1)e_1 = 0,$$

from the orthogonality Condition (14). But recall that p cannot vanish on [0, T]: we reached a contradiction.

We conclude that |u| = U a.e. on [0, T]. It follows that

$$\alpha(p - (p \cdot m)m) = p \wedge m + \mu u \quad \text{on } [0, T],$$

and using furthermore that

$$|\alpha(p - (p \cdot m)m) - p \wedge m|^2 = \alpha^2(|p|^2 - (p \cdot m)^2) + |p \wedge m|^2$$
$$= (\alpha^2 + 1)(|p|^2 - (p \cdot m)^2),$$

one gets an expression of u in terms of p or φ :

(16)
$$u = \frac{U}{(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2}} \frac{\alpha(p - (p \cdot m)m) - p \wedge m}{\sqrt{|p|^2 - (p \cdot m)^2}} = \frac{U}{(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2}} \frac{\alpha\varphi - \varphi \wedge m}{|\varphi|}.$$

In particular, we get

$$\begin{split} m\wedge u &= \frac{U}{(\alpha^2+1)^{1/2}} \frac{\alpha m\wedge \varphi-\varphi}{|\varphi|},\\ \alpha m\wedge (m\wedge u) &= \frac{U}{(\alpha^2+1)^{1/2}} \frac{-\alpha^2 \varphi-\alpha m\wedge \varphi}{|\varphi|}. \end{split}$$

Substituting those terms in (3) and (15), we get at last

(17)
$$\dot{m} = m \wedge Dm + \alpha m \wedge (m \wedge Dm) + U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} \frac{\varphi}{|\varphi|},$$

(18)
$$\dot{\varphi} = \alpha D\varphi - \alpha (Dm \cdot m)\varphi - Dm \wedge \varphi - D(\varphi \wedge m)$$

$$+ (m \cdot (Dm \wedge \varphi))m - U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi|m.$$

On Condition (12). — By setting $p(T) = (0, p_{2,T}, p_{3,T})$ (since $p(T) \cdot e_1 = 0$) and $v_T = (v_{1,T}, v_{2,T}, v_{3,T})$, since $m(T) = -e_1$, this condition also rewrites

$$-p^{0} = \max_{|v_{T}| \leqslant U} p(T) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \alpha v_{2,T} - v_{3,T} \\ \alpha v_{3,T} + v_{2,T} \end{pmatrix} = \max_{\substack{v_{2,T}^{2} + v_{3,T}^{2} = U^{2} \\ v_{3,T}^{2} = U^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} v_{2,T} \\ v_{3,T} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \alpha p_{2,T} + p_{3,T} \\ \alpha p_{3,T} - p_{2,T} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality then implies that $-p^0 = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}\sqrt{p_{2,T}^2+p_{3,T}^2}$. It follows that $p^0 = -1$ (else, the pair (p^0, p) would be trivial) and Condition (12) finally rewrites:

$$U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} \left|\varphi(T)\right| = -p^0 = 1$$

Analysis of the optimality conditions. — From the previous discussion, u(t) is given by (16) for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$, leading to

$$\varphi | (\alpha (u - (u \cdot m)m) - m \wedge u) = A (\alpha^2 \varphi - \alpha \varphi \wedge m - \alpha m \wedge \varphi + m \wedge (\varphi \wedge m))$$
$$= A(\alpha^2 + 1)\varphi,$$

where $A = U/(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2}$, so that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, u(t)) &= U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi| - p \cdot \left(\alpha \left(Dm - (Dm \cdot m)m\right) - m \wedge Dm\right) \\ &= U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi| - Dm \cdot \left(\alpha \left(p - (p \cdot m)m\right) - p \wedge m\right) \\ &= U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi| - Dm \cdot \left(\alpha \varphi - \varphi \wedge m\right) \\ &= \frac{(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi|}{U} \left(U^2 - Dm \cdot u\right), \end{aligned}$$

and we infer that

(19)
$$|\varphi(t)| \left(U^2 - Dm(t) \cdot u(t) \right) = \frac{U}{(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2}} > 0 \quad \text{a.e. in } [0, T].$$

On Condition (13). — From the previous discussion, we have for any $t \in [0,T]$

(20)
$$\max_{|v| \leq U} \mathcal{H}(m(t), p(t), p^0, v) = -p^0 = 1,$$

which leads at t = 0 to

(21)
$$U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}|\varphi(0)| = -p^0 = 1.$$

More generally, with the above expression (16) of u(t) which is the argmax of \mathcal{H} , we get

(22)
$$1 = U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}|\varphi| - \varphi \cdot \left[\alpha Dm - m \wedge Dm\right]$$

For the sake of clarity, we sum-up all this information in the following result.

PROPOSITION 12 (Necessary first order optimality conditions). — Let (T, u) be an optimal pair for Problem (\mathscr{P}_0). Then, the adjoint state p defined by (10) does not vanish on [0,T] and one has

(23)
$$u = \frac{U}{(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2}} \frac{\alpha \varphi - \varphi \wedge m}{|\varphi|},$$

where φ is given by $\varphi = p - (p \cdot m)m$. In particular, one has |u(t)| = U a.e. on [0, T].

Moreover, φ satisfies the differential relation (18) completed by the conditions (19) and

(24)
$$U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}|\varphi(0)| = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}|\varphi(T)| = 1.$$

Finally, m satisfies (17).

4. Proof of Theorem 3

4.1. PRELIMINARY RESULTS. — We first state preliminary results, in the form of a series of lemmas.

LEMMA 13. — For all $T < \infty$, the map

$$L^{\infty}(0,T) \longrightarrow W^{1,\infty}(0,T)$$

 $u \longmapsto m \text{ solution to (3) with } m(0) = e_1$

is continuous and locally Lipschitz.

. .

Proof. — Let $u_1, u_2 \in L^{\infty}(0, T)$ and m_1, m_2 the corresponding solution to (3). Define $\delta m := m_1 - m_2$ and $\delta u := u_1 - u_2$. Simple, though tedious, calculations provide that δm satisfies

$$\frac{d\delta m}{dt} = \alpha \Big[-D\,\delta m + \delta u - ((-D\,\delta m + \delta u) \cdot m_1)m_1 \\ - ((-Dm_2 + u_2) \cdot \delta m)m_1 - ((-Dm_2 + u_2) \cdot m_2)\delta m \Big] \\ - m_1 \wedge (-D\delta m + \delta u) - \delta m \wedge (-Dm_2 + u_2).$$

in (0, T). Since $|m_1| = |m_2| = 1$, we obtain

(25)
$$\left|\frac{d\delta m}{dt}\right| \leq \left((4\alpha + 2)\|D\|_2 + (2\alpha + 1)|u_2|\right)|\delta m| + (2\alpha + 1)|\delta u|, \text{ in } (0,T),$$

where $\|\cdot\|_2$ stands for the operator norm associated to the euclidean norm $|\cdot|$. Since $\delta m(0) = 0$, we have for all $t \in (0, T)$

$$\begin{split} |\delta m(t)| &\leq \int_0^t \left| \frac{d\delta m}{dt} \right| (s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leq (2\alpha + 1)T \| \delta u \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \int_0^t \left((4\alpha + 2) \| D \|_2 + (2\alpha + 1) \| u_2 \|_{L^{\infty}} \right) |\delta m| (s) \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

and thus by Gronwall's lemma,

$$|\delta m(t)| \leq (2\alpha + 1)T \|\delta u\|_{L^{\infty}} \exp\left(((4\alpha + 2)\|D\|_{2} + (2\alpha + 1)\|u_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}})t\right), \quad t \in [0, T].$$

Using this estimate, and plugging it also in (25), we get

$$\|\delta m\|_{W^{1,\infty}} \leqslant C(T, \|u_2\|_{L^{\infty}}) \|\delta u\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

and the conclusion follows.

LEMMA 14. — If $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that for all U > 0, if $|m(0) + e_1| < \delta$, then $-e_1$ can be reached in finite time with a control u such that $|u| \leq U$.

J.É.P. – M., 2025, tome 12

Proof. — Let us introduce m as the solution to (3) with the feedback control term

$$u(t) = \frac{U}{\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}} \frac{\alpha(-e_1 + (e_1 \cdot m(t))m(t)) + e_1 \wedge m(t)}{\sqrt{1 - (m(t) \cdot e_1)^2}}$$

so that the equation on m becomes autonomous, and is well defined as long as $m(t) \neq \pm e_1$. Observing that

$$\left\{m, \frac{e_1-(m\cdot e_1)m}{\sqrt{1-(m\cdot e_1)^2}}, \frac{m\wedge e_1}{\sqrt{1-(m\cdot e_1)^2}}\right\}$$

is an orthonormal basis, one immediately gets that |u(t)| = U for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$.

Let $m = (m_1, m_2, m_3)$ be the coordinates of m. From (3), the ODEs satisfied by m_2 and m_3 are

$$\dot{m}_2 = -\alpha[(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2 - ((\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2^2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3^2)m_2] + (\gamma_1 - \gamma_3)m_1m_3 + v_2,$$

$$\dot{m}_3 = -\alpha[(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3 - ((\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2^2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3^2)m_3] - (\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)m_1m_2 + v_3.$$

Therefore, by setting $\widetilde{m} := (m_2, m_3)$, it follows that \widetilde{m} solves the controlled system

(26)
$$\widetilde{m} = A_{-}\widetilde{m} + \xi_{-} + \widetilde{v}_{+}$$

where

$$A_{-} = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha(\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1}) & (\gamma_{3} - \gamma_{1}) \\ -(\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1}) & -\alpha(\gamma_{3} - \gamma_{1}) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\xi_{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha((\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1})m_{2}^{2} + (\gamma_{3} - \gamma_{1})m_{3}^{2})m_{2} - (\gamma_{3} - \gamma_{1})(1 + m_{1})m_{3} \\ \alpha((\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1})m_{2}^{2} + (\gamma_{3} - \gamma_{1})m_{3}^{2})m_{3} + (\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1})(1 + m_{1})m_{2} \end{bmatrix},$$

and $\tilde{v} = (v_2, v_3)$ where $v = (v_1, v_2, v_3) = \alpha(u - (u \cdot m)m) - m \wedge u$, which means here

$$v = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} \frac{(-e_1 + m_1(t)m(t))}{\sqrt{|m(t)|^2 - (m_1(t))^2}} = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} \frac{(-e_1 + m_1(t)m(t))}{|\widetilde{m}|},$$

We infer that $\tilde{v} = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}m_1\tilde{m}/|\tilde{m}|$. Observing that $(1-m_1)(1+m_1) = |\tilde{m}|^2$ yields, as soon as $m_1 \leq 0$, $|1+m_1| \leq |\tilde{m}|^2$ and thus

$$\left|\xi_{-}(t)\right| \leqslant \left(1+\left|\alpha\right|\right)\delta\gamma_{+}\left|\widetilde{m}(t)\right|^{3},$$

where $\delta \gamma_+ \coloneqq \gamma_3 - \gamma_1 > 0$, and also

$$\left|\widetilde{v} + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2} \frac{\widetilde{m}(t)}{|\widetilde{m}|}\right| \leqslant U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2} |\widetilde{m}(t)|^2.$$

With these estimates and by taking the inner product of (26) with \tilde{m} , we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\widetilde{m}(t)|^2 &\leqslant -U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} |\widetilde{m}(t)| + \|A_-\|_2 |\widetilde{m}(t)|^2 + U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} |\widetilde{m}(t)|^3 \\ &+ (1+|\alpha|) \,\delta\gamma_+ \left|\widetilde{m}(t)\right|^4, \end{split}$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leqslant -U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} + \left\|A_{-}\right\|_{2}|\widetilde{m}(t)| + U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}|\widetilde{m}(t)|^2 + (1+|\alpha|)\,\delta\gamma_{+}\left|\widetilde{m}(t)\right|^3.$$

 $\mathrm{J}.\mathrm{\acute{E}}.\mathrm{P}.-\mathrm{M}.,$ 2025, tome 12

Let us introduce $\delta_U \in (0, 1/2)$ small enough (depending on U > 0) so that

(27)
$$(U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} + ||A_-||_2)\delta_U + (1+|\alpha|)\,\delta\gamma_+\,\delta_U^3 \leqslant \frac{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}}{2}.$$

Then, if $|m(0) + e_1| < \delta_U$, which gives $|\tilde{m}(0)| < \delta_U$, one has

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leqslant -\frac{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}}{2} < 0,$$

as long as $|\widetilde{m}(t)| < \delta_U$. This yields that, for such time intervals, the mapping $t \mapsto |\widetilde{m}(t)|$ is decreasing.

Therefore, this shows that if δ_U satisfies (27) and m(0) is such that $|m(0)+e_1| < \delta_U$, then $|\tilde{m}(t)| < \delta_U$ for all $t \ge 0$ and that $\tilde{m}(t)$ reaches 0 in finite time. In other words, $-e_1$ can be reached in finite time with a control u such that $|u| \le U$ if m is such that $|m + e_1| < \delta_U$.

To conclude, it remains to drop the dependency of δ in U. Let us use that $-e_1$ is asymptotically stable according to Proposition 25. Therefore, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that, starting from a point m(0) chosen so that $|m(0) + e_1| < \delta$, we can first let the system evolve without control until we obtain $|m(T_U) + e_1| < \delta_U$ for some finite time T_U . From this moment, we know we can reach $-e_1$ in finite time, whence the expected conclusion.

Recall for the sake of readability that the notation \mathcal{T}_U has been introduced in Section 2.1.

LEMMA 15. — Let $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$ and U > 0 such that $\mathfrak{T}_U < \infty$. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\mathfrak{T}_{U-\varepsilon} < \infty$.

Proof. — Since $\mathfrak{T}_U < \infty$ and according to Theorem 2, there exists $u_* \in L^{\infty}(0, \mathfrak{T}_U)$ such that $m_*(0) = e_1$ and $m_*(\mathfrak{T}_U) = -e_1$. Now, let us consider m the solution to (3) associated to the control choice $u = \frac{U-\varepsilon}{U}u_*$ for some $\varepsilon \in (0, U)$ to be defined later. From Lemma 13, we obtain

$$\|m-m_*\|_{W^{1,\infty}(0,\mathcal{T}_U)}\leqslant C\Big\|\frac{U-\varepsilon}{U}u_*-u_*\Big\|_{L^\infty(0,\mathcal{T}_U)}=C\varepsilon\frac{\|u_*\|_{L^\infty(0,\mathcal{T}_U)}}{U}\leqslant C\varepsilon,$$

for some C > 0.

Since $m_*(\mathcal{T}_U) = -e_1$ by definition, we can take $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough so that $|m(\mathcal{T}_U) + e_1| < \delta$, where $\delta > 0$ is given by Lemma 14. From this lemma, we know we can reach $-e_1$ in finite time, and since $|u| \leq U - \varepsilon$, this leads to $\mathcal{T}_{U-\varepsilon} < \infty$.

LEMMA 16. — \mathfrak{T}_U is non-increasing with respect to U > 0. In particular, if $\mathfrak{T}_{U_0} < \infty$ for some $U_0 > 0$, then $\mathfrak{T}_U < \infty$ for all $U > U_0$.

Proof. — This property is an immediate consequence of the definition of \mathcal{T}_U and the fact that the sets \mathcal{O}_U are increasing for the inclusion.

4.2. EMERGENCE OF A THRESHOLD. — The following result is the most crucial for concluding. It quantifies the asymptotic stability of e_1 for the evolution of the magnetization m, with respect to u viewed as a perturbation. It is notable that its proof not only highlights the emergence of a threshold but also provides an explicit expression.

LEMMA 17. — Let us assume that $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$. There exists $U_{\text{stab}} > 0$ depending only on $\gamma_3 - \gamma_1$, $\gamma_2 - \gamma_1$ and α such that, for any $U < U_{\text{stab}}$, the following holds. Let (m, u) be a solution of (3) on $[0, +\infty)$, such that $u \in L^{\infty}([0, \infty))$ and $||u||_{L^{\infty}} \leq U$. Then for all $t \geq 0$, $m_1(t) \geq 0$.

In other words, m remains in the hemisphere with pole e_1 , and in particular, m can not reach $-e_1$. One has the same statement if (m, u) are defined on a bounded interval [0, T].

Proof. — Let $v = \alpha(u - (u \cdot m)m) - m \wedge u$. Then, using that v reads as the sum of two orthogonal terms, one has $|v|^2 \leq (1 + \alpha^2)U^2$. Moreover, since $|m|^2 = 1$, there holds

$$Dm \cdot m = \gamma_1 + (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2^2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3^2$$

As in the proof of Lemma 14, \tilde{m} solves the controlled system

(28)
$$\widetilde{m} = A\widetilde{m} + \xi + \widetilde{v}.$$

where

(29)
$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1) & -(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1) \\ \gamma_2 - \gamma_1 & -\alpha(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1) \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\xi = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha((\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2^2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3^2)m_2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)(1 - m_1)m_3 \\ \alpha((\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)m_2^2 + (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)m_3^2)m_3 - (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)(1 - m_1)m_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is important to note the sign change between A and ξ in this context, as well as A_{-} and ξ_{-} introduced in the proof of Lemma 14. Let $\nu \in (0, 1]$ to be fixed later and define

$$T_{\nu} = \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid |\widetilde{m}(t)| \ge \nu\}.$$

Our goal is to derive suitable bounds on \widetilde{m} , so that for a well chosen ν , $T_{\nu} = +\infty$.

Since $m(0) = e_1$ and m is continuous, we know that $T_{\nu} > 0$. Note that one has necessarily $m_1(\cdot) > 0$ on $(0, T_{\nu})$. Then, for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$, using that m is normalized, there holds like previously $0 \leq 1 - m_1(t) \leq 1 - m_1(t)^2 = |\tilde{m}(t)|^2$, and therefore

$$\left|\xi(t)\right| \leqslant \left(1+\left|\alpha\right|\right)\delta\gamma_{+}\left|\widetilde{m}(t)\right|^{3} \leqslant \left(1+\left|\alpha\right|\right)\delta\gamma_{+}\nu^{3},$$

where $\delta \gamma_+ \coloneqq \gamma_3 - \gamma_1 \ge \gamma_2 - \gamma_1 \Longrightarrow \delta \gamma_- > 0$. On the other hand, thanks to the Duhamel formula on (28) using the fact that $\tilde{m}(0) = 0$, there holds

$$\widetilde{m}(t) = \int_0^t \exp\left((t-s)A\right) \left(\xi(s) + \widetilde{v}(s)\right) \mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \ge 0$. This, together with the previous estimates, drives to

$$|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leq \int_0^t \left\| \exp\left((t-s)A\right) \right\|_2 \left((1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+\nu^3 + \sqrt{1+\alpha^2}U \right) \mathrm{d}s$$
(30)
$$\leq (1+|\alpha|)(\delta\gamma_+\nu^3 + U) \int_0^t \left\| \exp\left((t-s)A\right) \right\|_2 \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq (1+|\alpha|)(\delta\gamma_+\nu^3 + U) \int_0^t \left\| \exp\left(sA\right) \right\|_2 \mathrm{d}s,$$

for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$, where $\|\cdot\|_2$ still stands for the operator norm associated to the euclidean norm $|\cdot|$.

We will now provide an estimate of the norm of the exponential matrix. Recall that the characteristic polynomial of A is $P_A(X) = X^2 - \text{Tr}(A)X + \det(A)$ with

$$\det(A) = (1 + \alpha^2)\delta\gamma_- \delta\gamma_+ > 0, \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(A) = -\alpha(\delta\gamma_- + \delta\gamma_+) < 0.$$

Its discriminant Δ reads $\Delta = \text{Tr}(A)^2 - 4 \det(A) = \alpha^2 (\delta \gamma_+ - \delta \gamma_-)^2 - 4 \delta \gamma_- \delta \gamma_+$. To compute the eigenvalues of A, we have to distinguish between several cases.

First case: $\Delta > 0$. — Then its eigenvalues are $\lambda_{\pm} := \frac{1}{2}(\text{Tr}(A) \pm \sqrt{\Delta})$. Remark that both eigenvalues of A are negative (according to the signs of the trace and the determinant above) and different from each other, which means that A is diagonalizable. Therefore, we infer⁽³⁾ that

$$\exp(sA) = e^{s\lambda_{+}} \frac{sA - s\lambda_{-} I_{2}}{s\lambda_{+} - s\lambda_{-}} + e^{s\lambda_{-}} \frac{sA - s\lambda_{+} I_{2}}{s\lambda_{-} - s\lambda_{+}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta}} \left(e^{s\lambda_{+}} (A - \lambda_{-} I_{2}) - e^{s\lambda_{-}} (A - \lambda_{+} I_{2}) \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta}} \left((e^{s\lambda_{+}} - e^{s\lambda_{-}})A + (e^{s\lambda_{-}} \lambda_{+} - e^{s\lambda_{+}} \lambda_{-}) I_{2} \right)$$

$$= \frac{e^{s\lambda_{+}}}{\sqrt{\Delta}} \left((1 - e^{-s\sqrt{\Delta}})A + (e^{-s\sqrt{\Delta}} \lambda_{+} - \lambda_{-}) I_{2} \right)$$

$$= se^{s\lambda_{+}} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-s\sqrt{\Delta}}}{s\sqrt{\Delta}} A - \lambda_{-} \frac{1 - e^{-s\sqrt{\Delta}}}{s\sqrt{\Delta}} I_{2} \right) + e^{s\lambda_{-}} I_{2}.$$

Thus, using the facts that $\lambda_{-} < \lambda_{+} < 0$, $||A||_{2} \ge |\lambda_{-}|$ and also that the function f given by $f(x) = (1 - e^{-x})/x$ analytically extended to \mathbb{R} is uniformly bounded by 1 on $[0, \infty)$, we get

$$\|\exp(sA)\|_{2} \leq e^{s\lambda_{+}} \left(s(\|A\|_{2} + |\lambda_{-}|) + 1 \right) \leq e^{s\lambda_{+}} \left(2s\|A\|_{2} + 1 \right).$$

$$\exp(M) = \sum_{j=1}^{d} e^{\lambda_j} \prod_{i \neq j} \frac{M - \lambda_i \operatorname{I}_d}{\lambda_j - \lambda_i}$$

J.É.P. – M., 2025, tome 12

165

⁽³⁾Here, the Lagrange interpolation formula is used to compute the exponential of A: for every matrix $M \in \mathcal{M}_d(\mathbb{C})$ whose spectrum $\{\lambda_i\}_{1 \leq i \leq d}$ consists of distinct eigenvalues, one has

R. Côte, C. Courtès, G. Ferrière & Y. Privat

Hence,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \|\exp(sA)\|_{2} ds \leq |\lambda_{+}|^{-1}(1-e^{\lambda_{+}t}) + 2\|A\|_{2}|\lambda_{+}|^{-2}(1-(|\lambda_{+}|t+1)e^{\lambda_{+}t})$$
$$\leq (1-e^{\lambda_{+}t})\left(|\lambda_{+}|^{-1}+2\|A\|_{2}|\lambda_{+}|^{-2}\right)$$
$$\leq 3(1-e^{\lambda_{+}t})\|A\|_{2}|\lambda_{+}|^{-2},$$

and according to (30), one has for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$

$$|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leq 3||A||_2 |\lambda_+|^{-2} (1 - e^{\lambda_+ t})(1 + |\alpha|)(\delta \gamma_+ \nu^3 + U).$$

To conclude, we will choose U adequately so that the function

$$x \longmapsto 3\|A\|_2 |\lambda_+|^{-2} (1+|\alpha|) (\delta\gamma_+ x^3 + U)$$

admits a fixed point x_0 in (0, 1]. This is possible thanks to the next lemma, whose proof is postponed to the end of this section for the sake of clarity.

LEMMA 18. — Let a, b, c > 0. The function $x \mapsto a^{-1}(bx^3 + c)$ has a fixed point x_0 in (0,1] if, and only if $c \leq ax_1 - bx_1^3$ where $x_1 = \min\{1, \sqrt{a/3b}\}$.

Remark that if x_1 is as in this lemma, one has $ax_1 - bx_1^3 \ge \frac{2}{3}ax_1 > 0$. Thus, by applying Lemma 18 with the parameters $a = |\lambda_+|^2/(3||A||_2(1+|\alpha|))$, $b = \delta\gamma_+$ and c = U, we arrive at the assumption that

$$U \leqslant \frac{|\lambda_{+}|^{2}}{3\|A\|_{2}(1+|\alpha|)} x_{1} - \delta\gamma_{+} x_{1}^{3}, \quad \text{with} \quad x_{1} \coloneqq \min\bigg\{1, \frac{|\lambda_{+}|}{3\sqrt{\|A\|_{2}(1+|\alpha|)}\delta\gamma_{+}}\bigg\}.$$

Therefore, based on the conclusion of this lemma, we can set $\nu = x_0$, and the preceding estimate yields

$$|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leqslant (1 - e^{\lambda_+ t})\nu,$$

for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$. A continuity argument then implies that $T_{\nu} = \infty$. In other words, for all $t \ge 0$,

$$|m_1(t)| = \sqrt{1 - |\widetilde{m}(t)|^2} \ge \sqrt{1 - (1 - e^{\lambda_+ t})^2 \nu^2} > 0.$$

Now, m_1 is continuous, so that it keeps a constant sign. As $m_1(0) = 1$, $m_1(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \ge 0$, which is the desired conclusion.

Second case: $\Delta < 0$. — In this case, the eigenvalues are

$$\lambda_{\pm} \coloneqq \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(A) \pm i\sqrt{-\Delta}}{2}.$$

One more time, the two eigenvalues are distinct, complex conjugate with negative real part. Yet, the same decompositions as previously can still be applied and there holds

$$\begin{split} \exp(sA) &= e^{s\lambda_{+}} \frac{sA - s\lambda_{-} I_{2}}{s\lambda_{+} - s\lambda_{-}} + e^{s\lambda_{-}} \frac{sA - s\lambda_{+} I_{2}}{s\lambda_{-} - s\lambda_{+}} \\ &= \frac{1}{i\sqrt{-\Delta}} \left(e^{s\lambda_{+}} (A - \lambda_{-} I_{2}) - e^{s\lambda_{-}} (A - \lambda_{+} I_{2}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{i\sqrt{-\Delta}} \left((e^{s\lambda_{+}} - e^{s\lambda_{-}})A + (e^{s\lambda_{-}} \lambda_{+} - e^{s\lambda_{+}} \lambda_{-}) I_{2} \right) \\ &= \frac{e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}}{i\sqrt{-\Delta}} \left((e^{is\sqrt{-\Delta}/2} - e^{-is\sqrt{-\Delta}/2})A + (\lambda_{+}e^{-is\sqrt{-\Delta}/2} - \lambda_{-}e^{is\sqrt{-\Delta}/2}) I_{2} \right) \\ &= \frac{s}{2} e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)} \left[2A - \operatorname{Tr}(A) I_{2} \right] \operatorname{sinc} \left(\frac{s\sqrt{-\Delta}}{2} \right) + e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)} \cos \left(\frac{s\sqrt{-\Delta}}{2} \right) I_{2} \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, we get

$$\begin{split} \|\exp\left(sA\right)\|_{2} &\leqslant \frac{s}{2}e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}\left(2\|A\|_{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(A)\right) + e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)} \leqslant e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}\left(2s\|A\|_{2} + 1\right),\\ \text{since }\operatorname{Tr}(A) &= \lambda_{+} + \lambda_{-} \text{ and } |\lambda_{\pm}| \leqslant \|A\|_{2}. \text{ Hence, following the same way as in the first case, we get} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t \|\exp(sA)\|_2 \, \mathrm{d}s &\leq (1 - e^{(1/2)\operatorname{\rm Tr}(A)t}) \left(2|\operatorname{\rm Tr}(A)|^{-1} + 8\|A\|_2 |\operatorname{\rm Tr}(A)|^{-2}\right) \\ &\leq 12(1 - e^{(1/2)\operatorname{\rm Tr}(A)t})\|A\|_2 |\operatorname{\rm Tr}(A)|^{-2}, \end{split}$$

and according to (30), one has for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$

$$|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leq 12 ||A||_2 |\operatorname{Tr}(A)|^{-2} (1 - e^{(1/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)t})(1 + |\alpha|)(\delta \gamma_+ \nu^3 + U).$$

Now, by mimicking the reasoning done in the first case, by assuming

$$U \leqslant \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(A)^2}{12\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)} x_1 - \delta\gamma_+ x_1^3, \quad \text{with} \quad x_1 \coloneqq \min\bigg\{1, \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(A)}{6\sqrt{\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+}}\bigg\},$$

and taking $\nu = x_0$ given by Lemma 18, the previous estimate leads to

$$|\widetilde{m}(t)| \leqslant (1 - e^{(1/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)t})\nu,$$

for all $t \in [0, T_{\nu})$. Arguing as in the first case, we infer that $T_{\nu} = \infty$ in this case as well, and then, $m_1(t) > 0$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Third case: $\Delta = 0$. — In this case, both eigenvalues are equal, one has $\lambda = \text{Tr}(A)/2 < 0$. Note that, in that case, $A - \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}(A) I_2$ is therefore a non-zero nilpotent matrix, and more precisely $(A - \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}(A) I_2)^2 = (sA - \frac{s}{2} \text{Tr}(A) I_2)^2 = 0$. Thus, there holds

$$\exp(sA) = \exp\left(\frac{s}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(A)\operatorname{I}_{2}\right)\exp\left(sA - \frac{s}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(A)\operatorname{I}_{2}\right)$$
$$= e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}(\operatorname{I}_{2} + sA - \frac{s}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(A)\operatorname{I}_{2}),$$

which yields

$$\|\exp{(sA)}\|_{2} \leqslant e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}(1+s(\|A\|_{2}-\tfrac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(A))) \leqslant e^{(s/2)\operatorname{Tr}(A)}(1+2s\|A\|_{2}).$$

The computations are then exactly the same ones as in the second case, and the conclusion follows in the same fashion. $\hfill \Box$

Proof of Lemma 18. — We are looking for a root $x_0 \in (0, 1]$ of the polynomial function f given by $f(X) = bX^3 - aX + c$, whose derivative $3bX^2 - a$ is negative for $X < \sqrt{a/3b} = x_2$ and positive for $X > x_2$. The minimum in [0, 1] is therefore reached at x_1 and, since f(0) = c > 0, there is a root if and only if $f(x_1) \leq 0$, which corresponds to the assumption in the statement.

REMARK 19. — From the proof of Lemma 17, we obtained the following expression for U_{stab} . Consider the matrix A defined there in (29), let $\Delta = \text{Tr}(A)^2 - 4 \det(A)$ the discriminant of its characteristic polynomial, λ_{\pm} its eigenvalues chosen so that $\lambda_+ > \lambda_-$ whenever $\Delta > 0$, and $\delta \gamma_+ \coloneqq \gamma_3 - \gamma_1 > 0$.

Let

$$x_1(A) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \min\Big\{1, \frac{|\lambda_+|}{3\sqrt{\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+}}\Big\} & \text{if } \Delta > 0\\ \min\Big\{1, \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(A)}{6\sqrt{\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+}}\Big\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Then

$$U_{\text{stab}} = \Gamma(\Delta) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{|\lambda_{+}|^{2}}{3\|A\|_{2}(1+|\alpha|)} x_{1}(A) - \delta\gamma_{+} x_{1}(A)^{3} & \text{if } \Delta > 0\\ \\ \frac{\text{Tr}(A)^{2}}{12\|A\|_{2}(1+|\alpha|)} x_{1}(A) - \delta\gamma_{+} x_{1}(A)^{3} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Note also that, to complement this result, explicit computations of the quantities involved (like $||A||_2$) are provided in Appendix C.

We now have all the elements to conclude the:

Proof of Theorem 3. - Define

$$U_{\rm crit} \coloneqq \inf\{U \,|\, \mathfrak{T}_U < \infty\}.$$

From Lemma 17, we know that $U_{\text{crit}} > 0$. Lemma 16 proves the second point. To investigate the case where $U = U_{\text{crit}}$, observe that, by definition, (\mathscr{P}_0) has no solution for all $U \in (0, U_{\text{crit}})$. Moreover, if (\mathscr{P}_0) had a solution for $U = U_{\text{crit}}$, then Lemma 15 would provide a contradiction with respect to the definition of U_{crit} .

5. Cases with symmetry

In this section, we deal with the two cases when the material satisfies additional symmetry without being a sphere (in which case the analysis becomes trivial). They correspond to the cases $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 < \gamma_3$ and $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 = \gamma_3$.

5.1. PROOF OF THEOREM 5 (CASE $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$). — From Theorem 2, we have to investigate the existence of an admissible trajectory for this problem, in other words, the existence of a control $u \in \mathcal{O}_U$ and a time T > 0 such that $m_u(T) = -e_1$. This property is known to be true as soon as U is large enough according to [3]. But it has to be proved for smaller U.

Let us assume that $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$. We will prove that, in that case, $\inf_{T>0} \Lambda(T) = 0$, (with $\Lambda(T)$ defined by Equation (8)) which will prove that Problem (\mathscr{P}_0) has a solution whatever the value of U > 0. For $\varepsilon > 0$, let us consider a particular trajectory m_{ε} of the form $m_{\varepsilon} = (\cos(\varepsilon t), \sin(\varepsilon t), 0)$. Then, by defining

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon} := \left(\dot{e}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \left(Dm_{\varepsilon} \wedge m_{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{|\dot{m}_{\varepsilon}|}{1 + \alpha^2}\right)^2 + \left(\dot{e}_{\varepsilon} \cdot Dm_{\varepsilon} + \frac{\alpha |\dot{m}_{\varepsilon}|}{1 + \alpha^2}\right)^2,$$

with $\dot{e}_{\varepsilon} = \dot{m}_{\varepsilon} / |\dot{m}_{\varepsilon}|$, a straightforward computation yields

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varepsilon^2}{1 + \alpha^2} \leqslant \varepsilon^2.$$

We infer that $\inf_{T>0} \Lambda(T) \leq \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon} \leq \varepsilon^2$ whence the conclusion, since ε is arbitrary.

Let us now prove the last point of this result, assuming that from now on $\gamma_1 < \gamma_3$. Assume that $m_3(t) = 0$ for all $t \ge 0$. Then, $Dm = \gamma_1 m$. By contradiction, if such an *m* is an optimal trajectory, Proposition 12 is satisfied, and (17) gives

$$\dot{m} = U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} \frac{\varphi}{|\varphi|}.$$

By taking the third coordinate, we get $\varphi_3(t) = 0$ for all $t \ge 0$. Thus, we also get $D\varphi = \gamma_1 \varphi$ and (18) gives

$$\dot{\varphi} = -\gamma_1 m \wedge \varphi - D(\varphi \wedge m) - U(\alpha^2 + 1)^{1/2} |\varphi| m.$$

By taking again the third coordinate, we get

$$0 = -\gamma_1(m \wedge \varphi) \cdot e_3 - D(\varphi \wedge m) \cdot e_3 = (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)(m \wedge \varphi) \cdot e_3 = (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)(e_3 \wedge m) \cdot \varphi.$$

Since $\gamma_3 > \gamma_1$, this proves that $(e_3 \wedge m) \cdot \varphi = 0$. However, at t = 0, this means that

$$0 = (e_3 \wedge e_1)\varphi(0) = \varphi_2(0)$$

Now $\varphi_1(0) = \varphi(0) \cdot m(0) = 0$, and we obtained $\varphi(0) = 0$: this is a contradiction with (24).

5.2. PROOF OF THEOREM 6 (CASE $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$). — For this case, we first show that the (PMP) conditions are also sufficient conditions for optimal trajectories :

LEMMA 20. — Let $U > U_{crit}$. Then any trajectory *m* satisfying the (PMP) conditions $((10)-(13) \text{ with } p^0 = -1)$ is an optimal trajectory.

Proof. — Let m_* be an optimal trajectory, and p_* the associated adjoint state. By definition, they satisfy the (PMP) conditions. Now, let (m, p) be a trajectory and its adjoint state satisfying the (PMP) conditions. Let also $\varphi = p - (p \cdot m)m$ and $\varphi_* = p_* - (p_* \cdot m_*)m_*$. In particular, we know that $\varphi(0)$ satisfies (24) and

 $\varphi(0) \perp m(0) = e_1$, and similarly for φ_* with respect to m_* . Thus, there exists $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$ such that $R_{\theta}\varphi(0) = \varphi_*(0)$ where R_{θ} is the rotation along e_1 of angle θ :

$$R_{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 \cos \theta - \sin \theta\\ 0 \sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix}.$$

On the other hand, since $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$, we have $DR_\theta = R_\theta D$ for all θ , but also $R_\theta f \wedge R_\theta g = R_\theta (f \wedge g)$ for any $f, g \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Last, $R_\theta m_*(0) = R_\theta e_1 = e_1$. Thus, $(R_\theta m, R_\theta \varphi)$ satisfies the same system of ODEs as (m_*, φ_*) (i.e., (3)–(10) with $u(\cdot)$ or $u_*(\cdot)$ satisfying (23)) with the same initial data. By the Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem and using the fact that both φ and φ_* never vanish thanks to (19), we obtain $(R_\theta m, R_\theta \varphi) = (m_*, \varphi_*)$, i.e., $(m, \varphi) = (R_{-\theta}m_*, R_{-\theta}\varphi_*)$, and thus the conclusion.

The following two results exploit in a precise way the (necessary and sufficient) optimality conditions.

LEMMA 21. — Let U > 0 and (m, p) satisfy the (PMP) conditions ((10)–(13) with $p^0 = -1$) and $\varphi = p - (p \cdot m)m$. Then, for every $t \ge 0$, $\varphi(t) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m(t)) = 0$.

Proof. — We know that φ satisfies (18) and m satisfies (17) with u given by (23). Moreover,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m)) = \dot{\varphi} \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) + \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge \dot{m}).$$

Using the facts that $u \perp m$ and $m \perp (e_1 \wedge m)$, there holds

$$\begin{split} \dot{\varphi} \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) &= \alpha D \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) - \alpha (Dm \cdot m) \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) - (Dm \wedge \varphi) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) \\ &- D(\varphi \wedge m) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) + \frac{U}{\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} (\varphi \wedge (\varphi/|\varphi| \wedge m)) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m), \\ \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge \dot{m}) &= -\alpha \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge Dm) + \alpha (Dm \cdot m) \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) \\ &- \dots \end{split}$$

$$+\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge (m \wedge Dm)) + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2 \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge \varphi/|\varphi|)}$$

First, we point out that $\varphi \perp m$ so that $\varphi \wedge (\varphi \wedge m) = -|\varphi|^2 m$, and thus

$$(\varphi \wedge (\varphi \wedge m)) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = 0.$$

Similarly, $U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge \varphi/|\varphi|) = 0$. Then, using the triple product formula, we get $(a_1 \wedge p_m) = -Dm \cdot (e_1 \wedge \varphi)$

$$\varphi \cdot (e_1 \land Dm) = -Dm \cdot (e_1 \land \varphi),$$

$$(Dm \land \varphi) \cdot (e_1 \land m) = (\varphi \land (e_1 \land m)) \cdot Dm = -(\varphi \cdot e_1)(m \cdot Dm),$$

$$(m \land Dm) \cdot (e_1 \land \varphi) = ((e_1 \land \varphi) \land m) \cdot Dm = (m \cdot e_1)(\varphi \cdot Dm).$$

Moreover, since $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$, we know that, for any vector $f \in \mathbb{R}^3$ such that $f \cdot e_1 = 0$, $Df = \gamma_2 f = \gamma_3 f$. With the fact that D is symmetric, this leads to

$$D\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = \varphi \cdot D(e_1 \wedge m) = \gamma_2 \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m),$$

$$Dm \cdot (e_1 \wedge \varphi) = m \cdot D(e_1 \wedge \varphi) = \gamma_2 m \cdot (e_1 \wedge \varphi) = -\gamma_2 \varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m),$$

$$D(\varphi \wedge m) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = (\varphi \wedge m) \cdot D(e_1 \wedge m) = \gamma_2 (\varphi \wedge m) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m).$$

Last, using again the double product, we have

$$\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge (m \wedge Dm)) = (\varphi \cdot m)(e_1 \cdot Dm) - (\varphi \cdot Dm)(e_1 \cdot m) = -(\varphi \cdot Dm)(e_1 \cdot m).$$

But one has then

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi \cdot e_1)(m \cdot Dm) - (\varphi \cdot Dm)(e_1 \cdot m) &= e_1 \cdot \left[(Dm \cdot m)\varphi - (Dm \cdot \varphi)m \right] \\ &= -e_1 \cdot (Dm \wedge (m \wedge \varphi)) \\ &= -Dm \cdot ((m \wedge \varphi) \wedge e_1) = -m \cdot D((m \wedge \varphi) \wedge e_1) \\ &= -\gamma_2 m \cdot ((m \wedge \varphi) \wedge e_1) = \gamma_2(\varphi \wedge m) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m). \end{aligned}$$

This means

$$\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge (m \wedge Dm)) - (Dm \wedge \varphi) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) - D(\varphi \wedge m) \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = 0$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m)) = 0.$$

The conclusion comes by integration, noticing furthermore that $m(0) = e_1$ and thus $e_1 \wedge m(0) = 0$.

LEMMA 22. — Let U > 0 and (m, p) satisfy the (PMP) conditions ((10)-(13) with $p^0 = -1$). Let $m = (m_1, m_2, m_3)$ be the coordinates of m, and define

$$t_0 \coloneqq \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid m(t) = \pm e_1\} > 0$$

(possibly $+\infty$) and $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ such that $m_1 = \cos \theta$ on $[0, t_0)$. Then m_1 and θ satisfy on $[0, t_0)$

(31)
$$\dot{m}_{1} = \alpha(\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1})(1 - m_{1}^{2})m_{1} - U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^{2}}\sqrt{1 - m_{1}^{2}},$$
$$\dot{\theta} = -\alpha(\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{1})\sin\theta\cos\theta + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^{2}}.$$

Last, $t_0 = \infty$ if $U \leq U_{\text{crit}}$ and $t_0 = \mathcal{T}_U$ if $U > U_{\text{crit}}$.

Proof. — Let p its adjoint state and $\varphi = p - (p \cdot m)m$. Then $\varphi \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = 0$ from Lemma 21, which means that φ is orthogonal to both m and $e_1 \wedge m$ for all times in $[0, \mathcal{T}_U]$. Moreover, as soon as $m(t) \neq \pm e_1$ (i.e., as soon as $t \in (0, \mathcal{T}_U)$), $(m(t), e_1 \wedge m(t), m(t) \wedge (e_1 \wedge m(t)))$ is an orthogonal basis of \mathbb{R}^3 . Therefore, $\varphi(t)$ is colinear to $m(t) \wedge (e_1 \wedge m(t))$, i.e., there is $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}((0, \mathcal{T}_U), \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\varphi = \lambda m \wedge (e_1 \wedge m) = \lambda [e_1 - m_1 m].$$

Moreover, from (22), we know that φ does not vanish, thus neither does λ , which has a constant sign. Then, we also have

$$e_1 \cdot \varphi(t) = \lambda(t)(1 - m_1^2)$$
 and $|\varphi(t)| = |\lambda(t)| \sqrt{1 - m_1^2}$

which leads to

$$e_1 \cdot \frac{\varphi(t)}{|\varphi(t)|} = \operatorname{sign}(\lambda)\sqrt{1 - m_1^2},$$

with $sign(\lambda) = \pm 1$ constant in time. We also have

$$(Dm \cdot m) = \gamma_1 m_1^2 + \gamma_2 (m_2^2 + m_3^2) = \gamma_2 - (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1) m_1^2,$$

$$e_1 \cdot (m \wedge Dm) = Dm \cdot (e_1 \wedge m) = m \cdot D(e_1 \wedge m) = m \cdot \gamma_2 (e_1 \wedge m) = 0.$$

Therefore, the evolution equation on m_1 is

(32)
$$\dot{m}_1 = \alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)(1 - m_1^2) m_1 + \operatorname{sign}(\lambda)U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}\sqrt{1 - m_1^2}.$$

On the other hand, we know that $\tilde{m} = (m_2, m_3)$ satisfies at t = 0:

$$\dot{\widetilde{m}}(0) = U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2} \, \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}(0)}{|\varphi(0)|}$$

with $\tilde{\varphi}(0) \neq 0$ since $\varphi(0) \cdot e_1 = 0$ and $|\varphi(0)| = 1/U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2} > 0$. Since $\tilde{m}(0) = (0, 0)$, this means that $|\tilde{m}|$ is not vanishing on $(0, \varepsilon]$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Since $|m|^2 = 1$, this necessarily means that $m_1^2 < 1$ on $(0, \varepsilon]$. Now, we can introduce $\theta(t)$ the first angle of the spherical coordinate such that $m_1 = \cos \theta$, and we can assume that $\theta(0) = 0$ and $\theta(t) > 0$ on $(0, \varepsilon]$. The angle $\theta(t)$ is then well defined on $[0, t_0)$ where $t_0 = \min\{t > 0 \mid m(t) = \pm e_1\}$ and $\theta(t) \in [0, \pi]$. Moreover, since m_1 is \mathscr{C}^1 (due to (32), for example), θ is \mathscr{C}^1 on $(0, t_0)$ as well. Then, on this interval, we can replace m_1 in (32) by its expression in terms of θ , which leads to

$$-\dot{\theta}\sin\theta = \alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin^2\theta\,\cos\theta + \operatorname{sign}(\lambda)U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}\sin\theta,$$

hence

$$\dot{\theta} = -\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin\theta\cos\theta - \operatorname{sign}(\lambda)U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}$$

From this, we also see that θ is \mathscr{C}^1 at t = 0 with $\dot{\theta}(0) = -\operatorname{sign}(\lambda)U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}$. As $\theta \ge 0$ on $[0, t_0]$, we can easily see that $\operatorname{sign}(\lambda) = -1$ (otherwise we would have $\dot{\theta}(0) < 0$). This gives the expected ODEs on m_1 and θ , but on $[0, t_0)$ only.

To conclude, we shall prove that $t_0 = \infty$ if $U \leq U_{\text{crit}}$ or $t_0 = \mathcal{T}_U$ if $U > U_{\text{crit}}$, which is equivalent to prove that m does not reach e_1 again (up to reaching $-e_1$ before), or equivalently that θ does not come back to 0 before reaching π . This follows from the fact that θ satisfies an autonomous first-order ODE of the form $\dot{\theta} = f(\theta)$ with f(0) > 0.

We are now in position to prove Theorem 6.

Proof of Theorem 6. — Let U > 0 and (m, φ) satisfy the (PMP) conditions ((10)–(13) with $p^0 = -1$). From Lemma 20 and Theorem 3, we have 2 cases:

- either $U \leq U_{\text{crit}}$, and then no trajectory reaches $-e_1$ (and so in particular m), - or $U > U_{\text{crit}}$, and then m reaches $-e_1$.

Therefore, we shall analyze only the case when $U > U_{\text{crit}}$ and m is able to reach $-e_1$. From Lemma 22, we can define $\theta(t) \in [0, \pi]$ such that $m_1 = \cos \theta$, and it satisfies (31). Since it is an autonomous ODE of the form $\dot{\theta} = f(\theta)$ with f(0) > 0, it is easy to prove

that θ is able to reach π (which means m_1 reaches -1 or also m reaches $-e_1$) if and only if f > 0 on $[0, \pi]$, where $f(x) = -\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1) \sin x \cos x + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}$. From this,

$$f(x) > 0 \quad \forall x \in [0, \pi] \iff \frac{1}{2} \sin(2x) < \frac{U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}}{\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)} \quad \forall x \in [0, \pi]$$
$$\iff U > \frac{\alpha}{2\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1).$$

This gives the desired expression of $U_{\rm crit}$.

Let us now compute the minimal time in that case. From the ODE (31) satisfied by θ for the optimal trajectory, we know that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{T}_U &= \int_0^\pi \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{-\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin\theta\cos\theta + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} \\ &= \int_0^\pi \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{-\frac{1}{2}\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin2\theta + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} \\ &= \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{-\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin x + 2U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}} \int_{-\pi}^\pi \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{-U_{\mathrm{crit}}\sin x + U}. \end{aligned}$$

With the change of variable $y = \tan(x/2)$, so that $dx = 2 dy/(1+y^2)$, $\sin x = 2y/(1+y^2)$, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{T}_{U} &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1+\alpha^{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{2\,\mathrm{d}y}{-2U_{\mathrm{crit}}y + U(1+y^{2})} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\alpha^{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{U(y - U_{\mathrm{crit}}/U)^{2} + (U^{2} - U_{\mathrm{crit}}^{2})/U} \\ &= \frac{1}{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{y^{2} + (U^{2} - U_{\mathrm{crit}}^{2})/U^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^{2}}} \sqrt{\frac{U^{2} - U_{\mathrm{crit}}^{2}}{U^{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{((U^{2} - U_{\mathrm{crit}}^{2})/U^{2})z^{2} + (U^{2} - U_{\mathrm{crit}}^{2})/U^{2}}, \end{split}$$

with the change of variable $y = \sqrt{(U^2 - U_{\text{crit}}^2)/U^2} z$. Therefore,

$$\mathcal{T}_U = \frac{1}{U\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}} \sqrt{\frac{U^2}{U^2 - U_{\text{crit}}^2}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z^2 + 1} = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}\sqrt{U^2 - U_{\text{crit}}^2}}.$$

6. Proof of Theorem 9: on almost planar trajectories

Let us first state a result based on tedious computations, whose detail is left to the reader.

LEMMA 23. — Let $U > U_{crit}$, m be an optimal trajectory and p its adjoint state. Then $\zeta := p \wedge m = \varphi \wedge m$ satisfies

$$\dot{\zeta} = \alpha \Big(D(m \wedge \zeta) \wedge m - (m \wedge \zeta) \wedge Dm \Big) - Dm \wedge \zeta - D\zeta \wedge m.$$

Similarly, denoting $Z \coloneqq \zeta/|\zeta|$, then at every point where ζ does not vanish, one has

(33)
$$\dot{Z} = \mathbb{P}_{Z^{\perp}} \left[\alpha \left(D(m \wedge Z) \wedge m - (m \wedge Z) \wedge Dm \right) - Dm \wedge Z - DZ \wedge m \right],$$

where $\mathbb{P}_{Z^{\perp}} : x \mapsto x - (Z \cdot x)Z$ is the projection onto the orthogonal space to Z.

The proof of the Theorem 9 relies on the following result, establishing the existence of a planar trajectory joining e_1 to $-e_1$, without any norm condition on the chosen control.

LEMMA 24 (Existence of planar trajectory). — For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a trajectory of the form $m(t) = (m_1(t), m_2(t), 0)$ defined on $[0, T_{\varepsilon}]$ for some $T_{\varepsilon} > 0$, joining the state e_1 to $-e_1$ and such that

$$\mathcal{F} := \left(\dot{e} \cdot (Dm \wedge m) + \frac{|\dot{m}|}{1 + \alpha^2}\right)^2 + \left(\dot{e} \cdot Dm + \frac{\alpha |\dot{m}|}{1 + \alpha^2}\right)^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{4}(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2(1 + \varepsilon).$$

for all $t \in [0, T_{\varepsilon}]$. Furthermore, $T_{\varepsilon} \lesssim 1/\varepsilon$.

Proof of Lemma 24. — Define $m_1(t) = \cos \theta(t)$ and $m_2(t) = \sin \theta(t)$, our goal is to define a suitable function θ , such that $\theta(0) = 0$ and $\theta(T_{\varepsilon}) = \pi$.

Observe that \dot{e}, Dm, m are coplanar so that $\dot{e} \cdot (Dm \wedge m) = 0$. Also

$$|\dot{m}| = |\dot{\theta}|, \quad \dot{e} \cdot Dm = \operatorname{sgn}(\dot{\theta})(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)\sin(\theta)\cos(\theta) = \operatorname{sgn}(\dot{\theta})\frac{\gamma_2 - \gamma_1}{2}\sin(2\theta).$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F} &= \frac{1}{(1+\alpha^2)^2} \, |\dot{\theta}|^2 + \left(\mathrm{sgn}(\dot{\theta}) \, \frac{\gamma_2 - \gamma_1}{2} \, \sin(2\theta) + \frac{\alpha |\theta|}{1+\alpha^2} \right)^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{1+\alpha^2} \, |\dot{\theta}|^2 + \mathrm{sgn}(\dot{\theta}) \, \frac{\alpha(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)}{1+\alpha^2} \, \sin(2\theta) |\dot{\theta}| + \frac{(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2}{4} \, \sin^2(2\theta). \end{aligned}$$

This is a quadratic expression in $|\dot{\theta}|$. Assume that $\dot{\theta} > 0$ and let us solve the equation $\mathcal{F} = \frac{1}{4}(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2(1 + \varepsilon)$: this is a polynomial equation of degree 2, whose discriminant reads

$$\Delta = \frac{\alpha^2 (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2}{(1 + \alpha^2)^2} \sin^2(2\theta) - \frac{4}{(1 + \alpha^2)} \frac{(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2}{4} (\sin^2(2\theta) - 1 - \varepsilon)$$
$$= \frac{(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)^2}{(1 + \alpha^2)^2} \left((1 + \varepsilon)(1 + \alpha^2) - \sin^2(2\theta) \right).$$

Observe that $\Delta > 0$ for all θ , so that we can choose

$$\dot{\theta} = \frac{\gamma_2 - \gamma_1}{2} \left(-\alpha \sin(2\theta) + \sqrt{(1 + \varepsilon)(1 + \alpha^2) - \sin^2(2\theta)} \right) =: f_{\varepsilon}(\theta)$$

 As

$$f_{\varepsilon}(\theta) \ge \frac{\gamma_2 - \gamma_1}{2} \left(\sqrt{\varepsilon(1 + \alpha^2) + \alpha^2} - \alpha \right) \ge \frac{\varepsilon(1 + \alpha^2)}{\sqrt{\varepsilon(1 + \alpha^2)} + \alpha} > 0$$

we infer that this ODE on θ admits a unique solution θ_{ε} , strictly increasing such that $\dot{\theta}_{\varepsilon} \gtrsim \varepsilon$, and so, there exists a unique $T_{\varepsilon} \lesssim 1/\varepsilon$ such that $\theta_{\varepsilon}(T_{\varepsilon}) = \pi$. This provides the desired trajectory.

Let $U_{\text{plan}} = (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)/2$. Lemma 24 shows in particular that $U_{\text{crit}} \leq U_{\text{plan}}$. We are now in position to complete the:

Proof of Theorem 9. — Let ζ and Z as in Lemma 23: Z satisfies (33). Observe moreover that the equations on ζ and Z remain unchanged if one replaces D into $D - \lambda I_3$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. We can therefore assume that the spectral norm of D is $||D|| = (\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)/2$ by taking $\lambda = (\gamma_3 + \gamma_1)/2$. Then, since |Z| = |m| = 1 and $||\mathbb{P}_{Z^{\perp}}|| = 1$, we get

$$\left|\dot{Z}\right| \leq 2(1+\alpha) \|D\| = (1+\alpha)(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1).$$

On the other hand, according to Lemmas 10 and 24, we know that for all $U > U_{\text{plan}}$, there holds $\mathcal{T}_U \leq C/(U - U_{\text{plan}})$ for some constant C > 0. Thus, one has

(34)
$$|Z(t) - Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)| \leq (1+\alpha)(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)\mathfrak{T}_U \leq (1+\alpha)(\gamma_3 - \gamma_1)\frac{C}{U - U_{\text{plan}}}.$$

for all $t \in [0, \mathcal{T}_U]$. We also know that $|\zeta| = |\varphi|$. Thus, by introducing $\psi = \varphi/|\varphi|$, one gets $Z = \psi \wedge m$ and $m \wedge Z = \psi$ since $\varphi \cdot m = 0$. A straightforward computation yields that the pair (m, ψ) satisfies

$$\dot{\psi} = \alpha (D\psi - (D\psi \cdot \psi)\psi) - U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2 m} - Dm \wedge \psi + D(m \wedge \psi) - (\psi \cdot D(m \wedge \psi))\psi - ((m \wedge \psi) \cdot Dm)m,$$
(35)
$$\dot{m} = -\alpha (Dm - (Dm \cdot m)m) + m \wedge Dm + U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}\psi.$$

From estimate (34), we infer that, for U large enough,

$$\forall t \in [0, \mathfrak{T}_U], \quad |\psi(t) - m \wedge Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)| \leq \frac{C}{U}.$$

Putting this in Equation (35) for m, we get some constant C > 0 such that for all U large enough and $t \in [0, \mathcal{T}_U]$,

$$\left|\dot{m} - U\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2}m \wedge Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)\right| \leqslant C,$$

which leads to

$$|\dot{m} \cdot Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)| \leqslant C.$$

Since $m(\mathfrak{T}_U) \cdot Z(\mathfrak{T}_U) = 0$ by definition and using once again that $\mathfrak{T}_U \leq C/(U - U_{\text{plan}})$, we get for all U large enough and $t \in [0, \mathfrak{T}_U]$

$$|m \cdot Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)| \leqslant \frac{C}{U}.$$

However, $p(\mathfrak{T}_U) = \varphi(\mathfrak{T}_U)$ (since $p(\mathfrak{T}_U) \cdot m(\mathfrak{T}_U) = 0$ from the orthogonality condition) and $m(\mathfrak{T}_U) = -e_1$, and thus the orthogonal space of V is exactly $\operatorname{span}(Z(\mathfrak{T}_U))$, which means that $m(t) - \mathbb{P}_V m(t) = (m \cdot Z(\mathfrak{T}_U))Z(\mathfrak{T}_U)$. The conclusion easily follows. \Box

7. Conclusion

7.1. EXTENSION OF OUR RESULTS. — It would be natural to extend our study in several directions. On the one hand, we would like to complete our study of a single ferromagnetic particle of ellipsoidal shape by studying other criteria, and typically a combination of time and L^2 cost of control. This problem could read:

Second version of the optimal control problem: case of L^2 constraints

Let $\lambda > 0$ and let us assume that $m_0 = e_1$. The problem reads

$$(\mathscr{P}_{\lambda}) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{E}_{U}^{\lambda} = \inf_{(T,u) \in \mathcal{O}_{U}} T + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{0}^{T} |u(t)|^{2} dt,$$

where m_u is the solution to (3) associated to the control function $u(\cdot)$, or alternatively, if one aims at dropping the effect of the L^{∞} constraint on the control, *Modified second version of the optimal control problem: case of* L^2 *constraints*

Let $\lambda > 0$ and let us assume that $m_0 = e_1$. The problem reads

$$(\mathscr{P}_{\lambda}) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{E}_{U}^{\lambda} = \inf_{(T,u) \in \bigcup_{U \ge 0} \mathcal{O}_{U}} T + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{0}^{T} |u(t)|^{2} dt,$$

where m_u is the solution to (3) associated to the control function $u(\cdot)$.

Finally, we also plan to study similar issues for more realistic physical systems, for example a network of ellipsoidal particles, possibly rectilinear, as in the model introduced in [1].

7.2. NUMERICAL ILLUSTRATIONS OF OUR RESULTS. — We provide hereafter several numerical illustrations of our results. More precisely, we want to determine numerically the existence or not of an admissible trajectory connecting e_1 to $-e_1$, in accordance with what we have found theoretically. Let us first notice that a trajectory m can easily be computed numerically by solving the ODE (3) with the expression (23) for the control u where the variable φ is given by (15).

To initialize both ODE (3) and (15), $m(0) = e_1$ is given, but $\varphi(0)$ is unknown. On the one hand, we overcome this difficulty by noticing that $\varphi(0).e_1 = 0$, which allows us to have only two unknowns: $\varphi_2(0)$ and $\varphi_3(0)$ to be determined. On the other hand, working with the normalized variable $\psi = \varphi/|\varphi|$ enables us to reduce the unknowns to only one angle variable $\vartheta \in [0, 2\pi]$ such that $(\psi_2(0), \psi_3(0)) = (\cos(\vartheta), \sin(\vartheta))$. ODEs (3) and (15) are thus replaced by the system (35).

Numerically, implement a shooting method to determine $\vartheta \in [0, 2\pi]$: namely, for each ϑ , we solve the system (35) on a very large time horizon by a fourth-order Runge-Kutta method and determine if the trajectory m reaches $-e_1$ on a certain time T.

We list below the numerical results, all obtained with $\alpha = 0.6$. The initial position e_1 is represented with a red circle on the sphere and the goal $-e_1$ with a green star. Parameters γ_i , ϑ and control U are specified in the caption of each figure. For

each one, we have represented the trajectory m on the sphere as well as the coordinates of m and of the control u as functions of time.



(a) Admissible trajectory for $\vartheta = 0.8976$, large control U = 10







(c) Admissible trajectory for (d) The components of m and u for $\vartheta = 2.2440$, medium $\vartheta = 2.2440$, medium control U = 3 control U = 3



(e) Generic trajectory for (f) The components of m and u for $\vartheta = 0.8976$, small control $\vartheta = 0.8976$, small control U = 0.1 U = 0.1

FIGURE 2. Non-symmetric test case with $(\gamma_1; \gamma_2; \gamma_3) = (0.2; 0.5; 1)$, top: with a large control U = 10, middle: with a medium control U = 3 and bottom: with a small control U = 0.1.

First of all, in the non-symmetric case, a threshold on the control appears. If the control is sufficiently large, there is (at least) an initialization of ψ (i.e., at least

one angle ϑ) which allows to have an admissible trajectory represented in Subfigures 2(a)-2(b). On the contrary, if the control is not large enough, no initialization of ψ will give an admissible trajectory. We have represented for instance one of them in Subfigures 2(e)-2(f) with a particular ϑ but be aware that they all have the same behavior whatever the initialization of ψ : the trajectory remains in the northern half-sphere without enough control. Figure 2 is thus a perfect illustration of Theorem 3. Note that it also helps to illustrate Theorem 9 since the larger U is, the closer the trajectory is to a planar trajectory, as we can see by comparing Subfigures 2(c)-2(d) with a medium control and Subfigures 2(a)-2(b) with a larger control.



FIGURE 3. Non-symmetric test case with $(\gamma_1; \gamma_2; \gamma_3) = (0.0; 0.8; 1),$ $\vartheta = 2.5646$ and a small control U = 0.2.

Figure 3 illustrates once again the case of control too weak to reach $-e_1$, for other γ_i parameters.

The symmetric case $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$ is shown in Figure 4. Even for small controls (U = 0.7 numerically), there is (at least) one initialization of ψ leading to an admissible trajectory reaching $-e_1$ in finite time. This illustrates well Theorem 5: $U_{\rm crit} = 0$ in this symmetric case. When $\gamma_2 < \gamma_3$ (Subfigures 4(a)–4(b)), the admissible trajectories are non planar whereas it is, in the case of a spherical symmetry (Subfigures 4(c)–4(d)) without changing anything other than the symmetry of the test case. This is again in accordance with the second statement of Theorem 5.

For the symmetric case $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$, we see numerically in Figure 5 that for small values of U, an admissible trajectory exists. With the parameters of Figure 5, Theorem 6 gives the following value for $U_{\text{crit}} = \frac{\alpha}{2\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}}(\gamma_2-\gamma_1) \simeq 0.026$, which effectively allows to have admissible trajectories for very small values of U. Note also in Subfigure 5(b) that all admissible trajectories reach the target $-e_1$ in a time greater than 14. With the values chosen for Figure 5, $\pi/\sqrt{1+\alpha^2}\sqrt{U^2-U_{\text{crit}}^2} \simeq 13.58$ corresponds to the minimum time determined in Theorem 6. Here again, we notice the non-planar character of the trajectory.



(a) Admissible trajectory with $\gamma_3 = 1.0$





(c) Admissible trajectory with $\gamma_3 = 0.2$ (spherical case)



(d) The components of m and u with $\gamma_3 = 0.2$ (spherical case)

FIGURE 4. Symmetric test case $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$ with $(\gamma_1; \gamma_2) = (0.2; 0.2)$, $\vartheta = 0.3206$ and a small control U = 0.7, top: $\gamma_3 = 1.0$ and bottom: $\gamma_3 = 0.2$ (spherical case).



FIGURE 5. Symmetric $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$ test case with $(\gamma_1; \gamma_2; \gamma_3) = (0.1; 0.2; 0.2)$, $\vartheta = 2.7925$ and a small control U = 0.2.

7.3. PERSPECTIVES. — The obtained results provide a complete characterization of the question of the magnetic moment reversal in minimal time in a simple configuration. Indeed, we have considered here only one ellipsoidal particle. In order to approach more realistic configurations, we wish to analyze a model in which several ferromagnetic particles of ellipsoidal shape are combined to form a network. We refer for example to [1] for a possible model. After having characterized the set of stationary configurations, we will then ask ourselves the question of controllability in minimal time, in order to go from one stationary state to another.

Appendix A. Computation of the demagnetizing field in a ferromagnetic ellipsoid sample

It is shown in [17, 10] that the demagnetizing tensor D reads $D = \text{diag}([\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3])$, where the γ_i 's are given by

$$\gamma_i = \frac{a_1 a_2 a_3}{2} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{(a_1^2 + t^2)(a_2^2 + t^2)(a_3^2 + t^2)}(a_i^2 + t^2)}$$

Such an expression can be rewritten in terms of the elliptic integral of the second kind E, defined by

$$E(x,p) = \int_0^x (1 - p \sin^2 \theta)^{1/2} \, d\theta, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \ p \in (0,1).$$

If $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge a_3$, then, one has $0 \le \gamma_1 \le \gamma_2 \le \gamma_3 \le 1$ and these coefficients read

$$\begin{split} \gamma_1 &= 1 - \gamma_2 - \gamma_3, \\ \gamma_2 &= -\frac{a_3}{a_2^2 - a_3^2} \Big(a_3 - \frac{a_1 a_2}{(a_1^2 - a_2^2)^{1/2}} E\Big(\frac{a_2}{a_1}, \frac{a_1^2 - a_3^2}{a_1^2 - a_2^2}\Big) \Big), \\ \gamma_3 &= \frac{a_2}{a_2^2 - a_3^2} \Big(a_2 - \frac{a_1 a_3}{(a_2^2 - a_3^2)^{1/2}} E\Big(\frac{a_3}{a_1}, \frac{a_1^2 - a_2^2}{a_1^2 - a_3^2}\Big) \Big). \end{split}$$

In the case where $a_1 \ge a_2 = a_3$ (prolate spheroid), these formula simplify into

$$\gamma_1 = -\frac{a_3^2}{(a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{3/2}} \Big((a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{1/2} + a_1 \operatorname{argcoth} \Big(\frac{a_1}{(a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{1/2}} \Big) \Big),$$

$$\gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = \frac{1 - \gamma_1}{2}.$$

In the case where $a_1 = a_2 \ge a_3$ (oblate spheroid), these formula simplify into

$$\gamma_3 = -\frac{a_1^2}{(a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{3/2}} \Big((a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{1/2} + a_3 \arctan\left(\frac{a_3}{(a_1^2 - a_3^2)^{1/2}}\right) - \frac{\pi}{2}a_3 \Big),$$

$$\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \frac{1 - \gamma_3}{2}.$$

 $\mathrm{J}.\mathrm{\acute{E}}.\mathrm{P}.-\mathrm{M}.,$ 2025, tome 12

Appendix B. Stability of steady-states for Equation (3)

Let us first notice that, if \overline{m} is a steady-state of Equation (3) and if no control is applied on this system ($h_{\text{ext}} = 0$), then by orthogonality of the terms in the right-hand side, it satisfies

$$h_0(\overline{m}) = (h_0(\overline{m}) \cdot \overline{m})\overline{m} \text{ and } \overline{m} \wedge h_0(\overline{m}) = 0.$$

Therefore, \overline{m} is an eigenfunction of $D\overline{m}$ and we infer that $\overline{m} = \pm e_j$, j = 1, 2, 3 whenever $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 \leq \gamma_3$.

PROPOSITION 25 (Asymptotic stability). — Let $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3$ be sorted in ascending order $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 \leq \gamma_3$. Then, in the absence of any control h_{ext} , the steady-state $\pm e_1$ is an asymptotically stable equilibrium state for Equation (3). Nevertheless, the steady-states $\pm e_2$ and $\pm e_3$ are linearly unstable steady-states for Equation (3).

Proof. — Let $h = (h_1, h_2, h_3)^T \in \mathbb{R}^3$ be a small perturbation such that $e_1 + h$ is still an admissible magnetization, i.e., on the unit sphere $\mathbb{S}^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. We obtain:

$$||e_1 + h||^2 = 1 \iff (1 + h_1)^2 + h_2^2 + h_3^2 = 1 \iff h_1 = -\frac{1}{2} (h_1^2 + h_2^2 + h_3^3) = \mathcal{O}(||h||^2).$$

The unknown h_1 is therefore of second order and does not occur in a linearized system of the first order.

By linearizing Equation (3) around the equilibrium state e_1 , one has, without any control u:

(36)
$$\begin{cases} \dot{h_2} = \alpha(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)h_2 + (\gamma_1 - \gamma_3)h_3 + O(||h||^2), \\ \dot{h_3} = \alpha(\gamma_1 - \gamma_3)h_3 + (\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)h_2 + O(||h||^2). \end{cases}$$

The Jacobian matrix of the linearized system around e_1 is therefore :

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2) & \gamma_1 - \gamma_3 \\ \gamma_2 - \gamma_1 & \alpha(\gamma_1 - \gamma_3) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 \leqslant \gamma_3$, one has

 $det(J) = (\alpha^2 + 1)(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)(\gamma_1 - \gamma_3) > 0$ and $Tr(J) = \alpha [(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2) + (\gamma_1 - \gamma_3)] < 0$. We infer that the two eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix are of negative real parts. The steady state e_1 is therefore linearly stable and is a hyperbolic point (no eigenvalue with zero real part).

The Hartman-Grobman theorem [19] allows to conclude about the asymptotic stability of e_1 for the non-linear Equation (3) without any control u. As for $-e_1$, similar computations give the conclusion. Regarding now the stability of $\pm e_k$, k = 2, 3, notice that a similar computation drives to the following expression of the Jacobian determinant: det $J = (\alpha^2 + 1)(\gamma_2 - \gamma_1)(\gamma_2 - \gamma_3) < 0$. The expected conclusion follows. \Box

REMARK 26. — If $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2 \leq \gamma_3$, an eigenvalue of the Jacobian matrix may have a zero real part. In which case one can conclude that e_1 is linearly (non-asymptotically) stable, but the Hartman-Grobman theorem no longer applies to return to the non-linear Equation (3).

181

Appendix C. Complement in the case $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2$: explicit computations of the constants

Let us use the notations introduced in Remark 19. We compute

$$A^*A = \begin{bmatrix} (1+\alpha^2)\delta\gamma_-^2 & -2\alpha\delta\gamma_- & \delta\gamma_+ \\ -2\alpha\delta\gamma_- & \delta\gamma_+ & (1+\alpha^2)\delta\gamma_+^2 \end{bmatrix},$$

 $\operatorname{Tr}(A^*A) = (1 + \alpha^2)(\delta\gamma_-^2 + \delta\gamma_+^2) > 0, \qquad \det(A^*A) = (1 - \alpha^2)^2 \delta\gamma_-^2 \delta\gamma_+^2 \ge 0,$ and the discriminant of its characteristic polynomial is

$$Tr(A^*A)^2 - 4 \det(A^*A) = (1 + \alpha^2)^2 (\delta\gamma_-^2 + \delta\gamma_+^2)^2 - 4(1 - \alpha^2)^2 \delta\gamma_-^2 \delta\gamma_+^2$$

= $(1 + \alpha^2)^2 (\delta\gamma_-^2 - \delta\gamma_+^2)^2 + 16\alpha^2 \delta\gamma_-^2 \delta\gamma_+^2$
= $(1 + \alpha^2)^2 (\delta\gamma_- - \delta\gamma_+)^2 (\delta\gamma_- + \delta\gamma_+)^2 + 16\alpha^2 \delta\gamma_-^2 \delta\gamma_+^2 > 0$

and its largest eigenvalue is therefore

$$\|A\|_{2}^{2} = \frac{(1+\alpha^{2})(\delta\gamma_{-}^{2}+\delta\gamma_{+}^{2}) + \sqrt{(1+\alpha^{2})^{2}(\delta\gamma_{-}-\delta\gamma_{+})^{2}(\delta\gamma_{-}+\delta\gamma_{+})^{2} + 16\alpha^{2}\delta\gamma_{-}^{2}\delta\gamma_{+}^{2}}}{2}$$

On the other hand, when $\Delta = \alpha^2 (\delta \gamma_+ - \delta \gamma_-)^2 - 4\delta \gamma_- \delta \gamma_+ \ge 0$, we have

$$\lambda_{+} = \frac{-\alpha(\delta\gamma_{+} + \delta\gamma_{-}) + \sqrt{\alpha^{2}(\delta\gamma_{+} - \delta\gamma_{-})^{2} - 4\delta\gamma_{-}\delta\gamma_{+}}}{2}$$

and therefore, with $\Gamma = \delta \gamma_+^{-1} \delta \gamma_-$,

$$\frac{\frac{|\lambda_{+}|^{2}}{\|A\|_{2}(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_{+}}}{=\frac{\sqrt{2}}{4(1+|\alpha|)}} \frac{\left(\alpha(1+\Gamma)-\sqrt{\alpha^{2}(1-\Gamma)^{2}-4\Gamma}\right)^{2}}{\left((1+\alpha^{2})(1+\Gamma^{2})+\sqrt{(1+\alpha^{2})^{2}(\Gamma-1)^{2}(1+\Gamma)^{2}+16\alpha^{2}\Gamma^{2}}\right)^{1/2}}$$

Similarly, when $\Delta < 0$, we obtain

$$\frac{|\operatorname{Tr} A|^2}{\|A\|_2 (1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|\alpha|)} \frac{\alpha^2 (1+\Gamma)^2}{\left((1+\alpha^2)(1+\Gamma^2) + \sqrt{(1+\alpha^2)^2(\Gamma-1)^2(1+\Gamma)^2 + 16\alpha^2\Gamma^2}\right)^{1/2}}.$$

Remark also that $\Delta = \delta \gamma_+^2 (\alpha^2 (1 - \Gamma)^2 - 4\Gamma)$. Therefore, if we define

$$\widetilde{x}_0 \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{|\lambda_+|^2}{\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+}, & \text{ if } \Delta \geqslant 0, \\ \\ \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(A)^2}{4\|A\|_2(1+|\alpha|)\delta\gamma_+}, & \text{ if } \Delta < 0, \end{cases}$$

and then $\widetilde{x}_1 := \min(1, \sqrt{\widetilde{x}_0}/3)$, we obtain that both of them only depend on Γ and α and thus so is $\mu_0 = (x_0/3)x_1 - x_1^3$. Last, the conditions on U becomes $U \leq \delta \gamma_+ \mu_0$,

J.É.P. – M., 2025, tome 12

182

which is in agreement with the invariances on D (invariance by shifting of the γ_i s, invariance by multiplication of the γ_i s with respect to a change of time variable and a multiplication of the external field-control).

References

- S. AGARWAL, G. CARBOU, S. LABBÉ & C. PRIEUR "Control of a network of magnetic ellipsoidal samples", Math. Control Relat. Fields 1 (2011), no. 2, p. 129–147.
- [2] F. ALOUGES "Computation of the demagnetizing potential in micromagnetics using a coupled finite and infinite elements method", ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 6 (2001), p. 629–647.
- [3] F. ALOUGES & K. BEAUCHARD "Magnetization switching on small ferromagnetic ellipsoidal samples", ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 15 (2009), no. 3, p. 676–711.
- [4] F. ALOUGES, K. BEAUCHARD & M. SIGALOTTI "Magnetization switching in small ferromagnetic ellipsoidal samples", in Proc. 48h IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (Shanghai, December 2009), IEEE, 2009, p. 2106–2111.
- [5] X. AN, A. K. MAJEE, A. PROHL & T. TRAN "Optimal control for a coupled spin-polarized current and magnetization system", Adv. Comput. Math. 48 (2022), no. 3, article no. 28 (40 pages).
- [6] D. APALKOV, A. KHVALKOVSKIY, S. WATTS, V. NIKITIN, X. TANG, D. LOTTIS, K. MOON, X. LUO, E. CHEN, A. ONG et al. – "Spin-transfer torque magnetic random access memory (STT-MRAM)", ACM Journal on Emerging Technologies in Computing Systems (JETC) 9 (2013), no. 2, p. 1–35.
- [7] W. F. BROWN Micromagnetics, Interscience, 1963.
- [8] G. CARBOU, S. LABBÉ & E. TRÉLAT "Control of travelling walls in a ferromagnetic nanowire", Discrete Contin. Dynam. Syst. Ser. S 1 (2008), no. 1, p. 51–59.
- C. CHAPPERT, A. FERT & F. N. VAN DAU "The emergence of spin electronics in data storage", *Nature materials* 6 (2007), no. 11, p. 813–823.
- [10] G. DI FRATTA "The Newtonian potential and the demagnetizing factors of the general ellipsoid", Proc. Roy. Soc. Ser. A 472 (2016), no. 2190, article no. 20160197.
- [11] G. DI FRATTA, C. B. MURATOV, F. N. RYBAKOV & V. V. SLASTIKOV "Variational principles of micromagnetics revisited", SIAM J. Math. Anal. 52 (2020), no. 4, p. 3580–3599.
- [12] S. DUBEY & S. DWIVEDI "On controllability of a two-dimensional network of ferromagnetic ellipsoidal samples", *Differential Equations Dynam. Systems* 27 (2019), no. 1, p. 277–297.
- [13] T. DUNST, M. KLEIN, A. PROHL & A. SCHÄFER "Optimal control in evolutionary micromagnetism", *IMA J. Numer. Anal.* 35 (2015), no. 3, p. 1342–1380.
- [14] T. DUNST, A. K. MAJEE, A. PROHL & G. VALLET "On stochastic optimal control in ferromagnetism", Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 233 (2019), no. 3, p. 1383–1440.
- [15] A. HUBERT & R. SCHÄFER Magnetic domains: the analysis of magnetic microstructures, Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- [16] L. D. LANDAU, J. BELL, M. KEARSLEY, L. PITAEVSKII, E. LIFSHITZ & J. SYKES Electrodynamics of continuous media, vol. 8, Elsevier, 2013.
- [17] J. A. OSBORN "Demagnetizing factors of the general ellipsoid", *Physical review* 67 (1945), no. 11-12, p. 351.
- [18] S. S. PARKIN, M. HAYASHI & L. THOMAS "Magnetic domain-wall racetrack memory", Science 320 (2008), no. 5873, p. 190–194.
- [19] L. PERKO Differential equations and dynamical systems, vol. 7, Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [20] L. S. PONTRYAGIN, V. G. BOLTYANSKII, R. V. GAMKRELIDZE & E. F. MISHCHENKO The mathematical theory of optimal processes, The Macmillan Company, New York, 1964.
- [21] Y. PRIVAT & E. TRÉLAT "Control and stabilization of steady-states in a finite-length ferromagnetic nanowire", ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 21 (2015), no. 2, p. 301–323.
- [22] D. TAKAHASHI & V. C. OLIVEIRA JR "Ellipsoids (v1. 0): 3-D magnetic modelling of ellipsoidal bodies", *Geoscientific Model Development* 10 (2017), no. 9, p. 3591–3608.
- [23] A. VISINTIN "Mathematical models of hysteresis. A survey", in Nonlinear partial differential equations and their applications. Collège de France Seminar, Vol. XIII (Paris, 1994/1996), Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser., vol. 391, Longman, Harlow, 1998, p. 327–340.

[24] B. YAN – "On energy-minimization in ferromagnetism controlled by applied fields", Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 192 (2013), no. 1, p. 115–125.

Manuscript received 19th January 2023 accepted 9th January 2025

RAPHAËL Côte, IRMA, Université de Strasbourg, CNRS UMR 7501, Inria, 7 rue René Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg, France & University of Strasbourg Institute for Advanced Study (USIAS) *E-mail* : raphael.cote@unistra.fr *Url* : https://irma.math.unistra.fr/~cote/

CLÉMENTINE COURTÈS, IRMA, Université de Strasbourg, CNRS UMR 7501, Inria, 7 rue René Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg, France *E-mail* : clementine.courtes@unistra.fr *Url* : https://irma.math.unistra.fr/~courtes/

GUILLAUME FERRIÈRE, IRMA, Université de Strasbourg, CNRS UMR 7501, Inria, 7 rue René Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg, France *E-mail* : guillaume.ferriere@inria.fr *Url* : https://gferriere.perso.math.cnrs.fr/

YANNICK PRIVAT, Université de Lorraine, CNRS, Institut Elie Cartan de Lorraine, Inria, BP 70239 54506 Vandœuvre-lès-Nancy Cedex, France & Institut Universitaire de France (IUF) *E-mail* : yannick.privat@univ-lorraine.fr *Url* : https://iecl.univ-lorraine.fr/membre-iecl/privat-yannick/